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Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

Dear Shareholders,

The Group's revenue and gross profit from continuous operations
of 2020 amounted to HK$21,825,000 (2019: HK$16,342,000)
and HK$176,000 (2019: HK$12,443,000) respectively.

The year of 2020 witnessed the rare pandemic in human history.
Almost every part of the world had been affected by COVID-19
one after another and the pandemic is still menacing. Because
of different political, economic and social environment, countries
are not doing equally well in fighting against the pandemic. The
main R&D team members of the Group are based in Europe and
North America where the pandemic situation is especially severe.
Remote working has prevented us from keeping optimal working
efficiency, which has led to severe delays in R&D work.

We have also experienced unprecedented difficulties in raising
capital as potential investors have been more cautious during the
pandemic, and the Group could not conduct normal visits and
face-to-face communications with potential investors. The Group
has seen delays in securing capital from potential investors in
Europe and the Middle East regions even though the momentum
was extremely promising before the pandemic.

As regards the statement made in our annual report for last year
that “the Group’s normal business operation cannot be restored
fully until the autumn of 2020", it now transpires that, after
having re-assessed the most recent situations in Europe, South
America and the Asia Pacific region (except mainland China),
the statement appears to be too optimistic. Hong Kong has seen
several rounds of ups and downs of the COVID-19 pandemic
and has not come back to normal. Although mainland China has
realized strong economic rebound after successfully contained the
pandemic, and the US also has also realized speedy recovery, the
pandemic’s long-term effects on the political, economic and trade
systems globally are still to be seen, with great uncertainties in the
future. This is especially so when the new Biden Administration
has not yet fully clarified its stance on the US-China relationship,
and the encounter at the Alaska summit between the top
diplomat teams of the two powers did not end well. All these will
bring great uncertainties to the Group’s clean energy investment
projects in mainland China.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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Chairman’s Statement

Having said that, we have noticed that there is a new round of
investment wave into clean energy following the strong recovery
of the US economy, especially by way of financial instruments
such as Special Purpose Acquisition Company. The successful IPOs
of several mainland clean energy automobile companies have
created a good capital environment for the industry. Our Board
has made the most of precious time during the lockdown to
maintain constant and in-depth discussions via remote working
model with private equity firms, investment banks, law firms and
other partners so as to explore new ways, as well as to devise and
implement new plans for raising capital for the Group. Our goal is
to realize a breakthrough in the new year to secure strong capital
support to our clean energy vehicle projects.

A quote by Lao Tzu — "Good fortune has its roots in disaster”. If
we are to find something good out of the pandemic, then it is
the firsthand experience for everyone to see the importance and
feasibility of environmental protection. The reduction of human
activities has provided our mother nature with a rare opportunity
to take a break. People in many heavily polluted cities have seen
blue sky, white clouds and clean rivers for the first time in many
years. We, humans, for the first time are able to see how big an
influence we have on the environment. The pandemic disaster
could well usher in the true “Spring” for the clean energy industry.
The Group will double its efforts, work harder than ever, grasp
every opportunity to expand the development space, and make up
for lost time during the year of 2021.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all shareholders,
directors and employees of the Group for their tremendous
support!

Yeung Yung
Chairman
Hong Kong, 31 May 2021
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Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management

SEMEREEEREFIE

Below are the biographical details of the Directors and the Senior
Management of the Group during the Year and as at the date of
this annual report.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr YEUNG Yung ({P&#), aged 63, was appointed as executive
director of the Company in November 1998, and is the Chairman
of the Group, the chairman of the nomination committee and a
member of the remuneration committee of the Board. Dr Yeung
is also a substantial shareholder of the Company. Dr Yeung
holds a PhD Degree in Economics from the China’s Southwest
University of Finance & Economics. Dr Yeung was elected as a
director of the John Hopkins University Center — Nanjing University
Centre for Chinese and American Studies (13X 1EAZ AR L)
FEE) . Dr Yeung was the chairman, chief executive officer and
president of Brilliance China Automotive Holdings Limited and
also the chairman and president of Shenyang Jinbei Passenger
Vehicle Manufacture Co., Ltd. from 1992 to 2002. Dr Yeung
is a well-known, highly successful automotive industrialist with
over 18 years' experience in the automobile industry as well as a
pioneering international financier from China.

Mr Feng Rui (B#{), aged 48, was appointed as executive
director of the Company and chief executive officer of the
Group with effect from 1 January 2020. He was graduated from
the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics majoring in
Investment, Economics and Financial Management (& & &7
&12) and holds a Master's degree in Business Administration in
Executive Management from Royal Roads University of Canada.
Mr Feng is a member of the Shanghai Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has approximately 30 years of experience in the
fields of finance and corporate management. He has joined the
Group since August 2014 and is currently a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
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Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management
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Dr HUANG Chunhua (&), aged 57, was appointed as
executive director of the Company in June 2010, and is the
Deputy Chairman of the Group. Dr Huang holds a Bachelor of
Economics Degree from the Wuhan University in China, an MBA
and PhD in Marketing (focus on corporate strategy) from the
University of Strathclyde in Scotland. Dr Huang is also the vice-
chairman of Hybrid Kinetic Motors Corporation, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Dr Huang had been the vice-chairman of the
Company between November 2002 and October 2007 and its
chief financial officer between August 2000 and September 2004.
He is an independent non-executive director of China Rare Earth
Holdings Limited (listed in Hong Kong). He was among the first
generation China equity analysts and had in-depth knowledge
about China’s automotive and the transport infrastructure sectors,
as well as red chip conglomerates. Dr Huang was a pioneering
financier for China's first wave of private companies going public
in Hong Kong during 1999 and 2001.

Dr Huang resigned as executive director of the Company, and
ceased to hold any office or position with the Group, with effect
from 27 December 2020.

Dr WANG Chuantao (EJI1:8), aged 67, was appointed as
executive director of the Company in April 2009, and is the
Deputy Chairman of the Group. He is also the chief executive
officer of Hybrid Kinetic Motors Corporation, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. Dr Wang has more than 30 years'
experience in the field of manufacturing engineering. He is an
internationally recognized leading technologist and business leader
in the development and implementation of advanced stamping
using computer-aided engineering technology and production
systems for digital die manufacturing and stamping for large scale
automotive applications. He had been the Chief Die Engineer
and Technical Fellow in General Motors Corp in Michigan, the
US before he joined the Group. He is armed with interdisciplinary
education, diverse and in-depth knowledge and management
experience in the automotive industry. He received his doctorate
in industrial systems and engineering and his Master’s Degree in
materials science and engineering from The Ohio State University,
Columbus, Ohio, the US and his Bachelor’s Degree and Master’s
Degree in mechanical engineering from Chongqging University,
Chonggqing, the PRC.

Dr Wang resigned as executive director of the Company, and
ceased to hold any office or position with the Group, with effect
from 1 May 2021.
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Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr LIU Stephen Quan (ZI8R), aged 66, was appointed as
executive director of the Company in October 2007. Mr Liu holds
a Master’'s Degree in business, economics and finance from the
China Europe International Business School (CEIBS). Mr Liu has
extensive knowledge and experience in the management of supply
chain business. He has been in the investment management
industry for more than 15 years and was one of the founders of
several industrial companies and investment companies in China
and the US.

Dr ZHU Shengliang (%kBSE), aged 71, was appointed as
executive director of the Company in May 2008. Dr Zhu holds a
PhD Degree in Economics from the Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics. Dr Zhu possesses extensive experience in
finance and corporate management. He took senior managerial
roles in several companies, including Shanghai Shenhua Holdings
Co., Ltd., a PRC-listed company.

Mr LI Zhengshan (ZFIFELL), aged 51, was appointed as executive
director of the Company in June 2010. Mr Li holds a Master of
Arts Degree in English language and literature from the Shanghai
International Studies University. He has been the Executive
Assistant to Dr Yeung Yung, the Chairman of the Company, since
2003 and the deputy general manager of the PRC investment
division of the Company. He is currently a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible for corporate
coordination and business development of the Group in China.

Mr TING Kwok Kit, Johnny (T EI{#), aged 60, was appointed
as executive director of the Company in November 2014, and is
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He is also one of the
authorized representatives of the Company. He had previously
served as the independent non-executive director from 19
November 2007 to 31 May 2011. Mr Ting holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics from the University of Victoria of Canada
and a MBA from the City University of Hong Kong. Mr Ting
is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of the Certified General Accountants
Association of Canada. He is also a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Mr Ting has more than
15 years' experience in accounting, finance and corporate
management.
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Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr CHEN Xiao (FfB%), aged 49, was appointed as executive
director of the Company in November 2014. Mr Chen has
joined the Group since April 2008. He has been one of the
senior management of the Group and has been assuming
the role of director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr Chen is primarily responsible for identifying, evaluating,
participating in commercial negotiations and financial planning
for the implementation of potential projects for the Group in
the PRC. Mr Chen was graduated from the Shanghai University
of Finance and Economics (L/8EF&KKEE)in 1994, majoring
in Investment, Economics and Financial Management (& &4
FEEIE) . He has extensive experience in the areas of securities
investment, corporate finance, capital management and merger
and acquisition in the PRC.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr XIA Tingkang, Tim (E3E), aged 65, was appointed as
non-executive director of the Company in June 2010. Dr Xia
is currently an independent non-executive director of Jian's
ePayment System Limited (listed in Hong Kong). Dr Xia holds a
Bachelor’s Degree from Peking University, the PRC, a PhD from
The Ohio State University, the US and a Juris Degree from the
Columbia University School of Law, the US. Dr Xia is currently a
senior partner of an international law firm, Locke Lord LLP, and
a registered U.S. patent attorney. Prior to his legal career, he was
a physicist specializing in supercomputing, large scale computer
simulation of complex fluids, super-thin-films of polymers, and
Josephson junction superconducting arrays, electromagnetic
properties of high temperature superconductors, and physics
of granular metals. Dr Xia also counsels clients of international
corporate law.
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Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr ZHU Guobin ((REIE), aged 59, was appointed as non-
executive director of the Company in July 2010 and re-designated
as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 31
December 2012. Dr Zhu holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in history, a
Master’s Degree in history and a Master’s Degree in law from the
Renmin University of China, a Master's degree in law from the
University of Hong Kong and a PhD in law and a HDR (Dipléme
d'Habilitation a Diriger des Recherches) from the University of
Aix-Marseilles in France. Dr Zhu is currently a professor of law in
the School of Law of City University of Hong Kong. He is a guest
professor at Shandong University and at Schools of Law of Wuhan
University and Qingdao University in the PRC. He is also a council
member of the Chinese Association of Constitutional Law and
Chinese Judicial Studies Association and a titular member of the
International Academy of Comparative Law. Dr Zhu is an arbitrator
of Wuhan Arbitration Commission, Zhuhai Arbitration Commission
and Qingdao Arbitration Commission, and also an independent
non-executive director of China East Education Holdings Limited
and a director of The Legal Education Fund Limited (HK), and also a
council member of Hubei Province Overseas Friendship Association.

Mr CHENG Tat Wa (ZB3&2E), aged 56, was appointed as
independent non-executive director of the Company in August
2012. He is also the chairman of the audit committee and a
member of the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Board. Mr Cheng holds a Master's Degree in
international accounting from City University of Hong Kong and
a LLB (HONS) from Northumbria University. Mr Cheng is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
He is an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators of Canada and a member of the Certified
General Accountants Association of Canada. He is also a member
of the Institute of Internal Auditors. Mr Cheng has more than 15
years of extensive experience in the business accounting fields.

Dr LI Jianyong (F#8), aged 64, was appointed as
independent non-executive director of the Company in December
2012. Dr Li holds a Doctoral Degree in economics from the
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics (78 g B 4%
£)  Dr Li obtained the accreditation and qualification of sponsor
representative* (fRE{LF A) from the Securities Association
of China (FEEHZEWE)in 2007. Dr Li had served various
senior positions in GF Securities Company Limited (EE%% 55552
AEBR/ATE) . Dr Li was also appointed as the vice-chairman of
the Securities Association of China in 2007. Dr Li has extensive
experience in the securities and investment field in the PRC. Dr Li
is currently a professor of the Chinese Finance Research Institute of
the Southwestern University of Finance and Economics.
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Mr CHAN Sin Hang (BRZ&18), aged 36, was appointed as
independent non-executive director of the Company in December
2012. He is also a member of the audit committee of the Board.
Mr Chan holds a Bachelor’s Degree in business (accounting) from
the Australian Catholic University. Mr Chan is a full member of
the CPA Australia. He is also a member of HKICPA since March
2013. Mr Chan had been an auditor in CPA firms in Hong Kong,
and a chief financial officer and a company secretary of a financial
services company based in Hong Kong and China. Mr Chan has
more than 10 years of experience in the accounting field, and is
currently a financial controller of a Hong Kong company.

Mr LEE Cheung Yuet, Horace (F#1), aged 39, was
appointed as independent non-executive director of the Company
in September 2017. He is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of both the audit committee and
the nomination committee of the Board. He had been an
executive director of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited from
5 February 2018 to 31 March 2019 and an independent non-
executive director of Chuan Holdings Limited from November
2017 to June 2020 and is an independent non-executive director
of Asia Television Holdings Limited and Kirin Group Holdings
Limited (both are listed in Hong Kong). Mr Lee holds a Bachelor’s
Degree of Commerce (Accounting) from The University of
Queensland, Australia since 2004. Mr Lee is a Fellow Member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since 2014.
Mr Lee has over 15 years of working experience in merger and
acquisition, financial reporting, investment analysis and business
development. Mr Lee has been taking up senior positions in the
financial and business sectors for over 10 years and he also has
extensive experience in terms of Hong Kong listed companies.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr LEUNG Kai Yin (2E{E), aged 34, was appointed as
Company Secretary of the Company in September 2019. He is
also the finance manager of the Company. He holds a Bachelor's
degree in Information Systems from the City University of Hong
Kong and a Master’s degree in Professional Accounting from Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. Mr Leung is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr Leung has
over 10 years of experience in the fields of accounting, finance
and corporate management.

*  For identification purpose only
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The directors of the Company (the “Board” or the “Directors”)
are pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020
(the "Year").

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the development and sale of
battery management systems and spare parts, high-tech electric
motor vehicles, and advanced batteries materials. The Group is
also engaged in the provision of finance leasing services.

The Group has been engaging in the automotive batteries
business since 2011. The Group has established a team of
experts with extensive experience and expertise in a wide variety
of applications in the automobile industry, which forms part of
our core strength in the development of, among other things,
advanced and high quality batteries, battery management systems
and related technologies.

The global automotive industry is on an evolutionary fast track
towards electric mobility. To capture the mass market of the high-
tech electric motor vehicles successfully, the Company has put its
faith in the continuous improvement of higher quality batteries,
parts and technology to provide cleaner, safer and more robust
power for electric vehicles.

During the Year, despite the highly challenging business
environment under the global pandemic, the Group had
continued to explore business development opportunities by
leveraging its core strengths.

The Group did not settle in comfort zone following positive
feedback received for the Group's show cars from the public
after their debuts at international car shows. The Group had,
instead, moved beyond and continued to identify and engage with
different strategic alliances and business partnerships to, among
other things, (i) research, develop and deploy technologies in the
areas of high performance electrical systems architecture and
battery technologies, (i) establish and maintain manufacturing
bases and (iii) explore the viability of different business models in
an efficient and cost-effective manner.
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The COVID-19 pandemic had, however, posed significant
challenges to the Group’s research and development progress,
particularly in Europe and North America where the Group’s major
research and development function are based. This situation was
aggravated by the uncertain macro-economic environment and
generally cautious sentiment, which had affected adversely the
progress of the Group’s research and development projects, and
significantly hindered the negotiation progress with potential
business partners or investors.

Nevertheless, the Company believes its continuous efforts and
perseverance will bring the Group's business development to the
next level. These efforts include but not limited to the research
and development of technological advancement in the automotive
industry, reviewing and making reforms on its on-going projects,
exploring, expanding or reinforcing the cooperation and
collaboration with its business alliances and/or potential business
partners. The Company is confident that the Group will gradually
catch up as the global economy recovers from the pandemic in
2021, and will strive to achieve the next success milestone in the
automotive industry.

Development of battery technology

The high voltage battery pack technology developed by the Group
utilizes one common battery cell and module within the pack
for all vehicles. The battery’s charging control system has been
developed to intelligently allow the battery to charge in both AC
(alternative current) and DC (direct current) fast charging modes,
while a highly efficient low emission turbo charged 2 cylinder
engine is used as the power source to charge the battery and
extend the range of the vehicle.

Applicability of the battery packs in vehicle design

On top of the fast charging and range extension capabilities,
each of the Group's battery packs is configurable into a wide
variety of shapes and sizes to efficiently fill available space while
not constraining the overall dimensions that are critical to the
unique styling and comfort of other models, which may allow the
vehicle model to be offered to have a unique exterior and interior
design as a result of the comparatively flexible size of the battery
pack. The Group continues to source, identify and secure quality
manufacturers and/or suppliers with high-level engineering and/
or manufacturing capacities from worldwide for the Group's
automotive innovations and products.
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Continuous development of high-tech electric motor
vehicles

As regards the high-tech electric motor vehicles business,
the Group believes that the demand for high-tech, clean and
sustainable transportation will continue to grow under the global
trend of urbanization and proactive imposition of environmental
regulation. The comparatively flexible size of the Group's battery
pack allows the vehicle model to be offered in the Group's
product portfolio to have a unique exterior and interior design.

The Group continues to source, identify and secure quality
manufacturers and/or suppliers with high-level engineering and/
or manufacturing capacities from worldwide for the Group's
automotive innovations and products. The Group has also been
seeking collaboration opportunities with potential business
partners to continue to develop our electric vehicles.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group's revenue and gross profit for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$21.8 million (2019: HK$16.3 million) and
HK$0.18 million (2019: HK$12.4 million). The Group's revenue
and gross profit for the Year was primarily derived from and
attributable to the sales and service income of advanced battery
management systems and spare parts. The increase in revenue
and gross profit for the Year was mainly due to higher discount
given by the Group to its customers, which promoted sales and
service income, under the testing business environment caused
by the COVID-19 pandemic. The loss attributable to shareholders
for the Year amounted to approximately HK$100.8 million (2019:
HK$643.8 million). The loss for the Year was mainly attributable to
(i) the administrative expenses of approximately HK$89.9 million;
and (i) the share of loss of associates of approximately HK$11.9
million.

The administrative expenses for the Year decreased to
approximately HK$89.9 million (2019: HK$439.2 million) which
was mainly attributed to net of (i) the decrease in research and
development expenses from approximately HK$208.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately HK$1.6
million for the Year and (ii) the decrease in employee benefit
expenses (including wages and salaries, pension costs and other
benefits) from approximately HK$87.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2019 to HK$26.0 million for the Year.
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The prolonged COVID-19 pandemic situation has significantly
hindered the business development of the Group. In addition,
the Group has experienced unprecedented difficulties in raising
capital for its business development as potential investors are
more cautions during the pandemic. As the business development
had remained stagnant during the Year, there was no significant
increase in the revenue and gross profit, or the financial
performance, of the Group for the Year.

PROSPECTS

The Company has a long-term commitment to the global
automobile industry, which is constantly evolving.

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 at the end of December 2019,
the epidemic has been menacing and impacted on the global
business environment. No industry player in the auto industry was
immune to the effects of COVID-19.

Despite the uncertainties on the global economic prospect as a
result of the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group remains confident
in the automobile market, especially in the PRC as it is the
world’s largest automobile market and was among the first major
economies to recover from COVID-19. In addition, given the
PRC government is keen on combating air pollution, narrowing
the competitive gap between the global rivals and its domestic
automakers, we believe that the development of new energy
vehicles and its related products and advanced battery technology
will continue to be a focus of global and domestic interest and a
major trend in improving air pollution and enhancing economic
sustainability.

The Group has continued to work closely with its partners in
relation to the application of its advanced battery technology.
Leveraging on the Group’s expertise in advanced battery
technology, the Group has explored collaboration opportunities
in the application of its advanced battery technology by providing
technical configuration advice, material specification and
optimisation process service in advanced batteries materials to be
produced by its partners. The Board is of the view that the Group's
expertise in the advanced battery technology may continue to
drive the Group’s business and generate new stream of revenue
for the Group.

The Group will continue to seek opportunities for strategic
investment, cooperation and/or collaboration with renowned
organizations, institutions, experts and/or other strategic alliances
with a view to exploring ways to strengthen the Group’s supply
chains, enhance its production capacity and operational flexibility
and widen its expertise in such areas which are considered to
be beneficial to the sustainable development, expansion and
diversification of the Group's businesses.
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Further, in response to the ongoing nature of the COVID-19
pandemic and other challenges, the Company will embrace agility
in adapting its business strategies to the changing market and
customer needs to maximize or safeguard the overall interests of
the Company and its shareholders.

OTHER INFORMATION

(1) Update on the legal proceedings against members of
the Group

(1)

Legal dispute with XALT

As regards the attempts of the Group to settle the
dispute and the subsequent civil lawsuit against the
Company and one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
Billion Energy Holdings Limited (“Billion Energy”),
initiated in 2017 by Townsend Ventures LLC, XALT
Energy LLC and XALT Energy MI, LLC (collectively,
“XALT"), which centered on the supply agreement
dated 25 March 2015 entered into between Billion
Energy and XALT Energy MI, LLC for the supply
of battery cells (as disclosed and referred to in the
2019 annual report of the Company), the Company
has continued to seek legal advice to prepare for
the initiation of the arbitration proceedings while
exploring possible mediation with XALT.

The preparation of the arbitration process and the
possible mediation, however, had not shown much
progress during the Year primarily due to (i) a change
in shareholding structure and management of XALT;
(i) a change in the principal officer of the Group in
charge of the negotiations; and (iii) the prevalence of
the COVID-19 pandemic, which had undermined the
capacity of the legal systems to maintain normal levels
of access to legal services and delayed the progress
of work for the preparation of the application for
arbitral proceedings. Further, since the COVID-19 had
unleashed an unprecedented crisis globally during the
Year, the Board considered it appropriate to accord
priority to the preservation and enhancement of the
financial strength and other resources of the Group,
and only to pursue litigation or arbitral proceedings as
a last resort.
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While it is not entirely within the control of the
Company as to whether or when the legal dispute
or civil lawsuit will be resolved or concluded, the
Group will continue to make efforts to, among other
things, proactively approach the new management
of XALT to re-activate the negotiations so as to seek
a mutually acceptable solution to resolve the dispute
and the lawsuit amicably and more expeditiously, seek
professional advice on the Group's strategies over the
resolution of the dispute (including the appropriate
timing for initiation of the arbitration process or taking
other alternative actions) and of the Group's position,
as well as the legal recourse over the recovery of the
prepayment previously made by the Group to XALT
pursuant to the terms of the supply agreement to
safeguard the interests of the Group.

The Company will make further announcement(s)
to keep its shareholders informed of any material
development as and when appropriate.

(2) Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

The Company has been assessing the implications of the
COVID-19 pandemic to the business in which the Group
operates from time to time. Depending on the duration of
the COVID-19 pandemic and the extent of its continued
negative impact on the socio-economic activity, the
Group might experience further negative results, liquidity
restraints and impairment of its assets. As the challenges are
unprecedented, the exact impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
in 2021 cannot be predicted with certainty.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL

The Group did not have material acquisition or disposal of assets
during the Year and any future plans for material investment or
capital assets.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR

During the Year, the Company had not undertaken any fund
raising activity.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICY

As at 31 December 2020, the total equity of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$507.8 million (31 December 2019:
HK$567.5 million).

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2020 measured
in terms of total liabilities divided by shareholders’ equity was
approximately 39.94% (31 December 2019: 25.42%).

As at 31 December 2020, the net current assets of the Group
were approximately HK$316.9 million (31 December 2019:
HK$358.9 million). The cash and cash equivalents amounted
to HK$35.4 million (31 December 2019: HK$8.86 million). The
Group has an outstanding shareholder’s loan of HK$98.8 million
(31 December 2019: Nil), which is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

The Group adopts a conservative and balanced treasury policy in
cash and financial management. The Group’s cash is generally
placed as deposits mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
United States dollars or Renminbi. To manage liquidity risk,
the Group regularly reviews liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements.

PLEDGE OF THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, none of the assets of the Group had
been pledged (31 December 2019: HK$2.0 million) to the Group’s
bankers to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
or otherwise.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND ANY RELATED HEDGES

During the Year, almost all of the income and expenditure of the
Group were denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar and/
or United States dollar. The Group had no significant exposure to
foreign exchange fluctuations and, therefore, had not taken any
financial instruments for hedging purpose.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group had a total of approximately 60 employees as at 31
December 2020 (31 December 2019: 100 employees). It has
been the Group's policy to ensure that the remuneration levels
of the Directors and its employees are reviewed and rewarded
on a performance-related basis within the general framework of
the Group's salary and bonus system. Share options may also be
granted to the Directors and employees of the Group to attract,
retain and incentivise them to work and make contribution
towards the long term growth and development of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Details of significant investments held by the Group during the
Year are set out in notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company's securities.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
had reviewed and discussed with the management of the
Company regarding the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the Year.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION BY THE AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the independent external
auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”), expressed a disclaimer
of opinion (the “Disclaimer of Opinion”) on the financial
statements of the Group for the Year, which relates to the
following matters:

- Material uncertainty related to going concern

- Share of loss of associates and investment in associates
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- Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income

- Intangible assets
- Other receivables

- Prepayment to a supplier

Disposal of subsidiaries

Please refer to the paragraphs headed “Disclaimer of Opinion”
and “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” of the Independent
Auditor’s Report contained in this annual report for details.

VIEWS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AND THE
BOARD ON THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION BY
THE AUDITOR

The Audit Committee and the Board consider that the Company
have provided all available audit evidence to the Auditor and,
except for the uncertainty or possible effect of the matters leading
to the Auditor’s Disclaimer of Opinion, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the Year give a true and fair view
of the performance and financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020.

The Audit Committee and the Board, after discussion with
the Auditor on its basis of the Disclaimer of Opinion, have the
following views:

1. Material uncertainty related to going concern

Background

The Group incurred a loss of HK$100.8 million and
operating cash outflow of HK$94.4 million for the Year.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year, as disclosed in note 2 thereto, were prepared on a
going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon,
among other matters, (i) the continuing financial support of
the major shareholder of the Company, Dr Yeung Yung, (the
“Major Shareholder”) and (ii) the ability of the Company
to successfully raise funds for the Group at a level sufficient
to finance the working capital requirements of the Group.
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Continuing financial support from the Major
Shareholder

The Audit Committee and the Board have confidence in the
Major Shareholder’s continued commitment and support
towards the Group as had been demonstrated in the past,
and believe that the Major Shareholder is ready, willing and
able to offer such other assistance (financial or otherwise) to
the Group to enhance its financial flexibility and capability as
and when the circumstances arise.

In order to assess the financial ability of the Major
Shareholder and the validity of the financial support from
the Major Shareholder, the evidence and supporting
documents requested by the Auditor included but not
limited to proof of funds of the Major Shareholder for
demonstrating that the Major Shareholder has the financial
ability to provide support to the Company.

Other fundraising opportunities

Further, the Board has been proactively exploring (i) all
possible financial alternatives (including but not limited to
equity financing, debt financing, rights issue, open offer or
bank borrowings); (i) collaborations with potential business
partners and investors to develop the business of the Group.
These collaborations may take the form of joint venture(s)
or other forms of alliance with potential business partners
and investors to invest in, develop or diversify the businesses
of the Group in which (a) the Group may contribute its
expertise and intangible assets (such as intellectual property
rights owned by the Group) and (b) the potential business
partners or investors may inject working capital to allow
each party to fully leverage on each other’s capabilities.

The Board’s and Audit Committee’s views on the
material uncertainty related to going concern

Taking into account of the above, the Audit Committee
agreed with the management’s view that the Group will
have sufficient working capital for the operation and
development of its business for at least twelve months from
the end of the reporting period of the Year. As such, the
Audit Committee agreed with the management’s view that
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year should be prepared on a going concern basis.
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2.

With the continued support from the Major Shareholder,
together with the unwavering efforts and commitment
of the Company’s management in seeking potential
collaborations and investment opportunities for the
Group with a view to improving the liquidity, operation
and performance of the Group in the long run, the Audit
Committee and the Board believe that the Company will
manage to have sufficient working capital for the operation
and development of the Group’s business so that the
disclaimer of opinion in relation to the material uncertainty
will not be carried forward to the Group’s financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2021.

The Audit Committee considered that the material
uncertainties related to going concern will not be carried
forward to the Group's financial statements for the
year ending 31 December 2021 based on (a) the Major
Shareholder had in the past demonstrated its continued
commitment and support towards the Group; and (b) the
Company continued to explore fund raising opportunities
and collaborations with potential business partners and
investors.

Share of loss of associates and investment in
associates

Background

The Company'’s investment in associates mainly represented
the Company'’s (i) 16.7% equity interest in Shenzhen SUSTC
Fuel Cell Company Limited; and (i) 18% equity interest
in Ningbo Joint Venture, the carrying amount of which
amounted to approximately HK$0.1 million and HK$167.5
million as at 31 December 2020 respectively. The net assets
of Ningbo Joint Venture were approximately RMB780.6
million (equivalent to approximately HK$930.4 million) as at
31 December 2020.

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company
dated 14 March 2017 and 28 July 2017. Ningbo Joint
Venture was established pursuant to a joint venture
agreement dated 10 March 2017 (as supplemented) entered
into among the Group with Beijing WKW Automotive Parts
Co., Ltd and IEFEREEEEIEERAF (Beijing Zhi Yun
Asset Management Limited*). The Group has contributed
RMB360 million for 18% of the equity interest in Ningbo
Joint Venture.
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Ningbo Joint Venture is principally engaged in the research
and development production and sales of batteries in
the manufacturing aspect of key new energy automobile
components and related products and materials.

Given Ningbo Joint Venture is only an associate of the
Company with 18% of its equity interest and coupled with
the travelling limitations under the impact of COVID-19, the
Company had difficulties in requesting for detailed business
plans and financial forecast of Ningbo Joint Venture.

Reason leading to the disclaimer of opinion in relation
to share of loss of associates and investment in
associates

The Audit Committee and the Board understood that the
Auditor’s disclaimer of opinion was based on insufficient
audit evidence to ascertain the recoverability of the
investment in associates due to limited operations of
Ningbo Joint Venture and limited financial and corporate
information provided by the management of Ningbo Joint
Venture given the Company only holds 18% of the equity
interest of the Ningbo Joint Venture.

The Board’s and Audit Committee’s views on the
Auditor’s disclaimer of opinion in relation to the share
of loss of associates and investment in associates

The Company is in negotiation with an independent third
party in relation to the disposal of the Group's interest
in Ningbo Joint Venture (the “Potential Disposal”). The
consideration for the Potential Disposal is RMB360 million,
representing the total sum of capital contribution made
by the Group in Ningbo Joint Venture. Save for the capital
contribution of RMB360 million, the Group did not have any
commitment or financing provided to Ningbo Joint Venture
as at 31 December 2020. Up to the date of this report, the
Potential Disposal is still under negotiation.
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Taking into account of the above, in the event the Potential
Disposal materialised, the Group might be able to recover
its investment in Ningbo Joint Venture and the Group would
cease to hold any equity interest in Ningbo Joint Venture.

Based on the above, the Board and the Audit Committee
are of the views that the disclaimer of opinion in relation
to share of loss of associates and investment in associates
will not be carried forward to the year ending 31 December
2021.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Background of the Meilai Investment

The equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income of the Group as at 31 December
2020 represented the investment of the Group in the Meilai
Group.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company
dated 4 September 2020 (the “Meilai Announcement”)
in relation to the subscription of 5% equity interest in the
Meilai Group by the Group (the “Meilai Investment”).
On 27 May 2016, the Group and another investor, X @&
# (BB ®ER L (BRAEE) ("Tianfeng Investment”)
entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription
Agreement”) with the shareholders of the Meilai Group,
pursuant to which the Group agreed to subscribe for 5%
of the equity interest in Meilai Group at a consideration of
RMB60 million (the “Subscription”).

The Meilai Group is principally engaged in timber and wood
processing industries in the PRC.

The carrying amount of equity interest in the Meilai

Investment was approximately HK$15.0 million as at 31
December 2020 (31 December 2019: HK$14.0 million).
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Profit Guarantee and Compensation Payable

Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, certain
shareholders of the Meilai Group (the “Guarantors”)
covenanted and guaranteed to the Group that the
accumulated audited consolidated net profit should not
be less than RMB920 million for the three years ended 31
December 2018 (the “Profit Guarantee”). In the event
the Profit Guarantee is not fulfilled, the Guarantors shall
compensate the Group on a dollar-for-dollar basis (the
“Compensation Payable”) based on the formula as
disclosed in the Meilai Announcement. Based on the local
audit reports, the actual accumulated audited consolidated
net loss after taxation of the Meilai Group attributable to
its shareholders for the three years ended 31 December
2018 was approximately RMB54.4 million. Accordingly, the
Compensation Payable by the Guarantors to the Group
amounted to approximately RMB63,546,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$71.0 million). The Compensation Payable
was recognised as derivative financial instrument for FY2018
and reclassified to other receivables for FY2019 under the
consolidated financial statements of the Company. As at 31
December 2020, the Compensation Payable was amounted
to approximately HK$75.7 million.

Arbitration

On 29 September 2020, the Group applied to China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
(the "Arbitration Commission”) to initiate an arbitration
proceeding against the Guarantors in relation to the
Compensation Payable and the return of investment cost in
Meilai Group with interests (the “Arbitration”). The case
was accepted by the Arbitration Commission and the first
and second sessions of hearing were held on 29 December
2020 and 24 March 2021 respectively. As at the date of
this report, the Arbitration Commission has yet to hand
down any arbitral award. It is expected that the Arbitration
Commission may hand down the arbitral award in the third
quater of 2021 at the earliest.
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Reason leading to the disclaimer of opinion in
relation to the Compensation Payable and the Meilai
Investment

Due to the ongoing Arbitration, the Company could not
obtain the latest consolidated management accounts for
the year ended 31 December 2020. The Group could only
rely on the consolidated management accounts of the
Meilai Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 with
management adjustments and could not provide sufficient
information to the independent valuer for the valuation of
the Meilai Group and the Profit Guarantee.

Given (i) the inability of obtaining the audited financial
statement of the Meilai Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 due to the ongoing Arbitration; and (ii) the
Arbitration Commission has yet to hand down the arbitral
award on the Arbitration, the Auditor could not obtain
sufficient audit evidence to verify the management accounts
of the Meilai Group and was therefore unable to satisfy
itself on the fair value of the Meilai Investment and the
recoverability of the Compensation Payable.

The Board’s and Audit Committee’s views on the
recoverability of the Compensation Payable and the
Meilai Investment

In assessing the possible outcome of the Arbitration and
recoverability of the Compensation Payable, the Group
noted an arbitral award dated 30 November 2020 handed
down by the Arbitration Commission in relation to an
arbitration proceeding initiated by Tianfeng Investment
against the Guarantors for claims of compensation payable
as a result of the shortfall in attaining the profit guarantee
given to Tianfeng Investment and the return of investment
cost in Meilai Group with interests (which is similar to the
nature of claims made by the Group). The Arbitration
Commission has ruled in favour of Tianfeng Investment and
ordered the refund of the investment cost with interests to
Tianfeng Investment by the Guarantors (the “TF Arbitral
Award”).

The Board and Audit Committee understood that the
Auditor had indicated that the TF Arbitral Award might only
serve as a reference but could not be taken as substantial
audit evidence as to the recoverability of the Compensation
Payable because the outcome of each arbitration proceeding
would be determined on a case by case basis.
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Taking into account of the above, in the event the
arbitral award of the Arbitration was handed down by
the Arbitration Commission during the year ending 31
December 2021, the Group might be able to recover the
Compensation Payable and the Meilai Investment. Based on
the above, the Board and the Audit Committee are of the
views that the disclaimer of opinion in relation to the equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income will not be carried forward to the year ending 31
December 2021.

Intangible assets

Background of the intangible assets

Reference is made to (i) the announcement of the Company
dated 5 December 2016 in relation to the establishment of
Anhui Tiankang HK New Energy Technology Co., Ltd (the
“EJV"); and (ii) the announcement of the Company dated
18 October 2018 in relation to the voluntary dissolution of
the EJV, an associate of the Company (the “Dissolution”).

The registered capital of the EJV contributed by the Group
was satisfied by certain technical know-how owned by the
Group in relation to the battery technology of LTO (lithium
titanate) cell (the “Intangible Assets”), while the joint
venture partner contributed its registered capital by the
transfer of assets including, but not limited to, land use
right, plant and equipment. Upon establishment of the EJV,
the Group accounted for the EJV as an associate of the
Company under equity method and recognised its share of
net assets in the EJV.

Upon completion of the Dissolution during the year ended
31 December 2018, the Group had withdrawn such
technical know-how from the EJV and recognized the fair
value of its technical know-how previously contributed to
the EJV of HK$62.6 million as intangible assets, which was
based on the valuation performed by an independent valuer
as at the date of withdrawal of the Intangible Assets.

The fair value of the Intangible Assets was measured with
reference to the value in use of the CGU (cash-generating
unit) which was derived by the cash flow projections of the
CGU prepared by the management, and one of the key
assumptions of the projection is the Group would be able to
obtain additional working capital required for the CGU.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019 and for the sake
of prudence, the Company provided impairment in full on
the Intangible Assets.

Reason leading to the disclaimer of opinion in relation
to the Intangible Assets

As one of the key assumptions of the cash flow projection
of the CGU used for the measurement of the fair value
of the Intangible Assets as disclosed above is yet to be
substantiated to the satisfaction of the Auditor, the Auditor
was unable to satisfy itself as to the carrying amount of the
Intangible Assets as at 31 December 2020.

The Board’s and the Audit Committee’s views on
the Auditor’s disclaimer of opinion in relation to the
Intangible Assets

The Board is of the view that, for prudence’s sake, a
provision for impairment should continue to be provided for
in full on the Intangible Assets. The Audit Committee agreed
with the position of the Board concerning major judgmental
areas in respect of the carrying amount of the Intangible
Assets.

As disclosed above, the Board and the Audit Committee are
of the views that the Group will manage to have sufficient
working capital for the operation and development of its
business and the Intangible Assets may generate positive
cashflow to the Company in the future. Based on the above,
the Board and the Audit Committee are of the views that
the disclaimer of opinion in relation to the intangible assets
will not be carried forward to the year ending 31 December
2021.
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Other receivables

The balance represented (i) value-added tax (“VAT")
receivables which were generated during the daily operation
and ordinary course of business of the Group's subsidiaries
in the PRC; and (ii) other receivables due from third parties
which were overdue for more than a year (the “Overdue
Receivables”).

Background of the VAT receivables

VAT receivables shall be offset against any VAT payables
from VAT taxable income generated in the PRC. Since the
Group'’s subsidiaries in the PRC did not generate sufficient
VAT taxable income to offset the VAT payment during the
Year, the Company provided impairment in full on the VAT
receivables of approximately HK$4.0 million for prudence’s
sake during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Reason leading to the disclaimer of opinion in relation
to the VAT receivables

Due to the factors concerning the material uncertainty
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern as
detailed above, the Auditor was unable to satisfy itself that
the Group will or will not generate sufficient VAT taxable
income in the PRC and respective VAT payables to offset
such VAT receivables.

The Board’s and the Audit Committee’s views on the
Auditor’s disclaimer of opinion in relation to the VAT
receivables

The Board is of the view that, for prudence’s sake, a
provision for impairment should be provided in full on the
VAT receivables. The Audit Committee agreed with the
position of the Board concerning major judgmental areas in
respect of the carrying amount and impairment loss of the
VAT receivables.

As disclosed above, the Board and the Audit Committee are
of the views that the Group will manage to have sufficient
working capital for the operation and development of its
business and the Intangible Assets may generate positive
cashflow to the Company in the future. The Group may
generate sufficient VAT taxable income to offset the VAT
receivables in the future. Based on the above, the Board and
the Audit Committee are of the views that the disclaimer of
opinion in relation to the VAT receivables will not be carried
forward to the year ending 31 December 2021.
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Background of the Overdue Receivables

The Overdue Receivables included (i) the consideration
receivable from the purchaser (the “Purchaser”) of
the disposal of equity interest of an investment in joint
venture (the “Consideration Receivable”) amounted
to approximately HK$23.8 million; (ii) prepayments
made to various vendors during the daily operation
and ordinary course of business (the “Prepayment to
Vendors”) amounted to approximately HK$12.1 million
and (i) downpayments made to third parties for business
development (the “Down Payments”) amounted to
approximately HK$2.4 million.

Reason leading to the disclaimer of opinion in relation
to the Overdue Receivables

As the Overdue Receivables remained outstanding and
there is limited information on the financial capability of the
vendors and Purchaser, the Auditor could not satisfy itself in
relation to the recoverability of the Overdue Receivables.

The Board’s and the Audit Committee’s views on
the Auditor’s disclaimer of opinion in relation to the
Overdue Receivables

The Company has continued to maintain business
relationship with the Purchaser. There is no indication the
Purchaser will not settle the Consideration Receivable and
the Company is not aware that the Purchaser is experiencing
any financial difficulties. Given the Company’s business
relationship with the Purchaser and the relatively cautious
business environment in the PRC as recovering from the
impact of COVID-19, the Board and the Audit Committee
considered it prudent and expedient to continue to request
the Purchaser to settle the Consideration Receivable through
negotiations so that the disclaimer of opinion in relation to
the Consideration Receivable will not be carried forward
to the Group's financial statements for the year ending 31
December 2021.

Also, the Board and the Audit Committee are of the views
that, the Prepayment to Vendors and the Down Payments
made to certain vendors and third parties will be utilised
by the Company for business development and ordinary
business operation, so that the disclaimer of opinion in
relation to the Overdue Receivables will not be carried
forward to the Group's financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2021.
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Disposal of subsidiaries

Background

During FY2020, the Company entered into a number of sale
and purchase agreements with third parties to dispose of its
investments in several subsidiaries of the Company in the
United States (the “US Subsidiaries”) (the “Disposal”).
The Group recorded a loss on disposal of US Subsidiaries of
approximately HK$0.1 million. The details of the Disposal are
set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Due to the hindrance of the COVID-19 epidemic in the
United States during the Year, the registration of the
Disposal with the relevant authority had been inevitably
delayed. As at 31 December 2020 and up to the date
of this report, the registration and filing process of the
Disposal in the relevant authority is yet to be completed. For
prudence’s sake, the Company recorded the Disposal during
the Year and the financial results of the US Subsidiaries
were no longer consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements of the Company.

Reason leading to the disclaimer of opinion in relation
to the Disposal

The Audit Committee and the Board understood that the
Auditor’s disclaimer of opinion was based on insufficient
audit evidence to ascertain the completion of the Disposal as
the legal formalities of the Disposal are yet to be completed.
As such, the Auditor was unable to satisfy itself in relation to
the accuracy of the disclosure in relation to the Disposal.
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The Board’s and the Audit Committee’s views on
the Auditor’s disclaimer of opinion in relation to the
Disposal

The Board and the Audit Committee consider that the
completion of the relevant registration and filing process
in respect of the Disposal with the authorities is only
procedural, the Disposal should for prudence’s sake be
recorded and the financial results of the US Subsidiaries
should no longer be consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of the Company. Upon the completion
of remaining legal formalities of the Disposal, the Board and
the Audit Committee are of the views that the disclaimer of
opinion in relation to the Disposal will not be carried forward
to the year ending 31 December 2021.

Prepayment to a supplier

Background

The prepayment to a supplier (the “Prepayment”), which
was made to XALT pursuant to certain supply agreement
and was the core of a lawsuit commenced by XALT as
disclosed in "Other Information — Update on the legal
proceedings against members of the Group ” in this report.
The Prepayment was recorded as trade and other receivables
in the consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the Year.

The Company originally intended to consider commencing
arbitration proceedings against XALT and had engaged
legal counsel in this regard. However, during the Year, the
COVID-19 pandemic had continued to prevail, which had
triggered multiple impacts, not only on the economy but
also resulted in significant challenges for the legal systems,
including both litigation and arbitration proceedings.
Mandatory social isolation measures, limited resources
and improvised solutions have undermined the capacity to
maintain normal levels of access to legal services during the
outbreak. The progress of work for the preparation of the
application for arbitral proceedings had been delayed.
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More importantly, the COVID-19 pandemic has put
tremendous pressure on corporations and businesses
worldwide to look for ways to prioritize the preservation
and enhancement of financial strength and other resources
against the unprecedented challenges posed by the
pandemic during FY2020. The Company is no exception.
Under the extraordinary situation, the Company considered
it prudent and expedient to seek mitigation (through making
efforts to try to re-open negotiations with the management
of XALT (although the progress had been intermittently
disrupted due to a change in shareholding structure and
management of XALT and the change in the principal officer
of the Group in charge of the negotiations), and only to
pursue litigation or arbitral proceedings as a last resort.

Reason leading to the disclaimer of opinion in relation
to the Prepayment

The Company had provided all available evidence to the
Auditor of the Group’s making of the Prepayment to, and its
receipt by, the recipient suppliers (whom and whose related
parties are involved in the lawsuit with XALT). Given the
recoverability of the Prepayment is subject to the outcome of
any negotiations or litigations which are yet to materialise,
the Auditor was yet to be satisfied on the recoverability of
the Prepayment.

The Board’s and the Audit Committee’s views on
the Auditor’s disclaimer of opinion in relation to the
Prepayment

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that (i) the
stay of commencing any legal proceedings did not and does
not have any material impact on the business operations
of the Group; (ii) it is understandable, from the Auditor’s
audit perspective, that it is premature to evaluate whether
any portion of the Prepayment to XALT is recoverable and
recordation of the Prepayment in the consolidated financial
statements for the Year was fairly stated and there are
no present contingent liabilities to be recognized for the
lawsuit.
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The Company will continue to make efforts to gather further
evidence that may possibly assist the Auditor in making the
necessary assessment for the purposes of the audit. With
a view to resolving the dispute with XALT and ultimately
removing the audit issue over the Prepayment, the Company
has designated new responsible officer(s) to follow up
the negotiations with the new management of XALT. At
the same time, the Company will continue to seek legal
and other professional advice as to whether it would be,
given the exceptional situation as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic, strategically appropriate or favourable for the
Company to adopt a more proactive approach to commence
the arbitration proceedings in Hong Kong or adopt any
other alternative approach in the second half of 2021 for
the recovery of the Prepayment, so that the disclaimer of
opinion in relation to the Prepayment will not be carried
forward to the Group's financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2021.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out in the annual report on page
156. The summary does not form part of the audited financial

statements.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this Directors’

report are:

Executive Directors:

Dr Yeung Yung (Chairman)

Mr Feng Rui (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 1 January 2020)

Dr Huang Chunhua (Deputy Chairman)
(resigned on 27 December 2020)

Dr Wang Chuantao (Deputy Chairman)
(resigned on 1 May 2021)

Mr Liu Stephen Quan

Dr Zhu Shengliang

Mr Li Zhengshan

Mr Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny

Mr Chen Xiao

Non-executive Director:
Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Dr Zhu Guobin

Mr Cheng Tat Wa

Dr Li Jianyong

Mr Chan Sin Hang

Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to any director(s) or
chief executive of the Company, the following parties (other than
the directors or chief executive of the Company) were recorded
in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO"), or as otherwise notified to the Company, as
being directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be interested in
5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

FERRNETQE RSP 2HED

A TECEREFTA=+—H MAEREME
PHEFNESTHRAEMM T AL R
BREAAFEFARSTHRAL REAT

5%H U L2 EEITRATER KRR STE
BARBIRBEFRPERD (FBEHE
571%) (GEFRAERA) E336FEEF
B HESTHNERAT ZEE
S

Number
Name Capacity/Nature of interest of Shares Percentage
218 M4 B EmEttE [iavt 4= | BSL
(Note 4)
(Ff¥5E4)
Sun East LLC Beneficial owner (Note 1) 2,673,071,189 13.13%
BmEA A (1)
Yeung Yung Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 2,673,071,189 13.13%
i R EEER (f5E2)
Beneficial owner (Note 3) 68,140,000 0.34%
BmEA A (1E3)
2,741,211,189 13.47%
Notes: B 5E

1. Sun East LLC is owned as to 35% by Dr Yeung Yung (shared
commonly with his spouse under the laws of California, the US) and
65% by Mr Ma Manwai (alias Ma Manwai, Philip) and Mr Jimmy
Wang (alias Wang Jian) as co-trustees for certain trusts established
for the benefit of the children of Dr Yeung Yung on 30 December
2002. Dr Yeung Yung (as well as his spouse) was deemed to be
interested in these 2,673,071,189 Shares held by Sun East LLC
under Part XV of the SFO.

2. These 2,673,071,189 Shares are the same parcel of Shares held
by Sun East LLC in which Dr Yeung Yung (as well as his spouse) is
deemed interested under Part XV of the SFO.

3. These 68,140,000 Shares are directly held by Dr Yeung Yung, in
which his spouse is deemed interested under Part XV of the SFO.

4, The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of
20,352,872,747 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2020 and does
not take into account any Shares which may fall to be allotted and
issued upon exercise of any subscription rights attaching to any
share options granted by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, no person, other than those Directors
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions” below, had registered an
interest or short positions in the share capital or underlying shares
of the Company that was required to be recorded under Section
336 of SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of
the directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were as follow:

(1) Long positions in the ordinary share (each a
“Share”) of HK$0.10 each in the Company
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Approximate
percentage of

Name of Director Number of Shares  Capacity/Nature of interest shareholding
EEns RHBE S5 EzmtE RESNTILE
(Note 1)
(MyzE1)
Yeung Yung 2,673,071,189 Interest of controlled corporation
Ik (Note 2)  ¥EZFERT
(fs5E2)
68,140,000 Beneficial owner
BaEBA
2,741,211,189 13.47%
(Note 3)
(ft5E3)
Wang Chuantao 30,000,000 Beneficial owner 0.15%
FIE BEmEBA
Liu Stephen Quan 281,760,000 Founder of trust
2R (Note 4) Interest of children under 18
(ffizE4)  EERIIBA
Row18R TR 2B
10,000,000 Beneficial owner
BaEBA
291,760,000 1.43%
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Name of Director
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Number of Shares

Capacity/Nature of interest

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

ESig RPHE B #EunitE RREMAT L
(Note 1)
(FFzE1)

Zhu Shengliang 22,043,883 Beneficial owner 0.11%

KBR EREEA

Li Zhengshan 26,270,000 Beneficial owner 0.13%

FIEU EnBEEA

Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny 3,000,000 Beneficial owner 0.015%

TE% EEEEA

Chen Xiao 25,000,000 Beneficial owner 0.12%

PeR Bz EREEA

Cheng Tat Wa 1,300,000 Beneficial owner 0.006%

EpiEEE EnBEEA

Chan Sin Hang 500,000 Beneficial owner 0.002%

PR =1 EEEEA

Notes: INE:

M

The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of
20,352,872,747 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2020 and
did not take into account any Shares which may fall to be
allotted and issued upon exercise of any subscription rights
attaching to any share options granted by the Company.

These Shares are held by Sun East LLC. Sun East LLC is a
limited liability company incorporated in California, the US,
which is owned as to (i) 35% by Dr Yeung Yung (shared
commonly with his spouse under the laws of California, the
US) and (i) 65% by Mr Ma Manwai (alias Ma Manwai, Philip)
and Mr Jimmy Wang (alias Wang Jian) as co-trustees for
certain trusts established for the benefit of the children of Dr
Yeung Yung on 30 December 2002. Dr Yeung Yung (as well
as his spouse) was deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Sun East LLC by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

The spouse of Dr Yeung Yung is deemed to be interested in
the Shares beneficially held by Dr Yeung Yung by virtue of
Part XV of the SFO.

These Shares were indirectly owned by certain trusts of which
Mr Liu Stephen Quan were the founder. The children of
Mr Liu were eligible beneficiaries of the trusts. Mr Liu was
deemed to be interested in these Shares by virtue of Part XV
of the SFO.
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(2)

Interests in share options of the Company
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Number of

underlying

Shares
subjectto  Approximate
outstanding  percentage of

Name of Director Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price Options  shareholding
tef KT
Rl
Fri$Rkz R
EEpy bl =E AT TEE HEREE BALL
(HK9) (Note)
(B (RizE)
Feng Rui 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 10,000,000
Vb ZZ-ZFNAH 5 September 2023
ZZ-ZFNhAREE
—Z=H£NAEH
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 10,000,000
—ME+—FAZ+H 19 November 2024
—ME+—AZ+AE
—Z_mE+—A+AH
20,000,000 0.10%
Wang Chuantao 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 30,000,000 0.15%
& —mE+—AZ+H 19memmw4
—mFE+—AZ+HE
_7_E¢+ A+hH
Liu Stephen Quan 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 10,000,000 0.05%
2R Z2—=FhAKH 5 September 2023
ZZ-=FhAREE
“2T=FAAEH
Zhu Shengliang 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 20,000,000
KBR Z2-=FhAKH 5 September 2023
“Z-=FNAKBE
“E=FhAAH
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 20,000,000
—ME+—AZ+H 19 November 2024
—ME+—AZ+AE
—Z_mE+—A+AH
40,000,000 0.20%

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER

39



40

Directors’ Report
EEEHEE

Number of
underlying
Shares
subject to  Approximate
outstanding percentage of
Name of Director Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price Options  shareholding
CEIF
fakete
FiisR2 g i)
Expn i =h AT A 1@ HRkHHE BAL
(HK$) (Note)
(B7t) (Ff55)
Li Zhengshan 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 20,000,000
FIEW Z2—=FNAKH 5 September 2023
ZZ-ZFAAREE
“ET=FNARA
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 50,000,000
“Z—MFE+—AZ+H 19 November 2024
“E-QNE+—-RBZ+RE
“Z_NE+—A+hA
70,000,000 0.34%
Ting Kwok Kit, 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 32,000,000
Johnny ZZ-=FAARH 5 September 2023
T S =AY =
“E"=FNAZRAH
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 25,000,000
“Z—ME+—BZ+H 19 November 2024
“E-MFE+—BZ+HE
“E_ME+—-A+NH
57,000,000 0.28%
Chen Xiao 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 50,000,000 0.25%
TREE “Z—MFE+—AZ+H 19 November 2024
“E-QNE+—-RBZ+RE
“Z_NE+—A+hA
Xia Tingkang, Tim 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 10,000,000
BEE Z2-=FEAAKA 5 September 2023
S ==
ZZT=FhAERH
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 10,000,000
“Z—MFE+—AZ+H 19 November 2024
“E-QNE+—RBZ+RE
“Z_NE+—A+hA
20,000,000 0.10%
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=5

Number of
underlying
Shares
subject to
outstanding

S IR

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Director Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price Options  shareholding
HRITHE
fERRE
SRz A
B4 bh =) A{THERAR TEE  1ERRMEE Batt
(HK$) (Note)
(B (B =3)
Zhu Guobin 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 10,000,000
KEDE Z2—=FhAKH 5 September 2023
“E-=-FABRKRHE
2 =FhAEH
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 10,000,000
—mE+—FZ+H 19 November 2024
—NE+—AZ+HE
_7_E¢+ B+hH
20,000,000 0.10%
Cheng Tat Wa 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 5,000,000 0.03%
BhiEaE —ME+—BZ+H 19 November 2024
Z—MNE+—FZ+HZE
“ZTMFE+—ATAH
Li Jianyong 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 10,000,000
TRE ZZ--FhARH 5 September 2023
ZZ--FHhARHEE
“ZT=FABEH
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 20,000,000
—ME+—FZ+H 19 November 2024
—mE+—FZ+HZE
_V_EE+ B+hH
30,000,000 0.15%
Chan Sin Hang 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 4,500,000 0.02%
BRE —mE+—BZ+H 19 November 2024
—mOF+—AZ+HE
“EMmE+—A+AhH
Note: FIE -
The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of FREALER -2 ZEF+"A=+—

20,352,872,747 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2020.

H B %1720,352,872, 74708 B3P st & o

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had or were deemed to have any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December
2020.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company currently in force
was adopted on 13 June 2013 (the “Scheme”) pursuant to an
ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 June
2013.

The following share options were outstanding during the period
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 (the “Period”):

BREXPIIBEIN RZFE_FF+-A4
=t+—H BEFARADEFARSITHRAER
RAEABDHEEMEEEZR (EERBHFK
HAS 1R B SEXVER) Z A AIRR A ~ HERARR 17 3¢
BT EENRESEAEARZIKE

RaRetEstE

zts/z}ﬂEEE%E%ZZE%H%E%?UB7FETJ’§¢Q}
BARER-E—=ZFERB+=ZBR1T2XK
@ﬂﬁl% EEjYAtLLZ_IE\EI@/ \u?*/:

ERTE—=ZFA+=0%H (5t8) -
UTERER_Z_ZTF-—A—HAE_%

TEF+"B=+—HH5E (RA) HRT
b :

Share options
lapsed/
As at 1 January Reclassification Share options cancelled Share Options ~ As at 31 December Date of Exercise Exercise
Name/Category of Participant 2020 during the period Granted  during the Period exercised 2020 Grant Price Period
23 BRBXR/ 3

2aae/8 -B-H BRENAE BRHZBRE HEZBRE BfifEzikE +ZRAZt-B  RHAH fifEE fres

Director
%

Feng Rui - 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 Note 1 Note 1 Note 1

B iG] iG] k4]

- 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3

LGS LGS M3

Huang Chunhua 50,000,000 - - (50,000,000) - - Note 3 Note 3 Note 3

BEE LGS LGS M3

Wang Chuantao 30,000,000 - - - - 30,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3

% LGS LGS M3

Liu Stephen Quan 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 1 Note 1 Note 1

Iz i) iG] k4]

Zhu Shengliang 20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000 Note 1 Note 1 Note 1

FBR iG] iG] k4]

20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3

LGS LGS M3

Li Zhengshan 20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000 Note 1 Note 1 Note 1

FEU iG] iG] k4]

50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3

LGS LGS M3

Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny 32,000,000 - - - - 32,000,000 Note 1 Note 1 Note 1

TER iG] iG] k4]

25,000,000 - - - - 25,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3

LGS LGS W3

Chen Xiao 50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3

W5 LGS LGS W3

Xia Tingkang, Tim 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 1 Note 1 Note 1

BER i) iG] k4]

10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3

LGS LGS W3
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EEEWRE

Share options
lapsed/
As at 1 January Redlassification Share options cancelled Share Options ~ As at 31 December Date of Exercise Exercise
Name/Category of Participant 2020 during the period Granted  during the Period exercised 2020 Grant Price Period
it Sk 23 BABRY/ Sk k3
AR /B -A-8 BRENHE  BRYUZBRE HEZBRE  BffEZBRE  +tZASt+-B EHAM fifefR frfes
Director
B3
Zhu Guobin 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
RER Wiz ikl ikl
10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
W3 liE] W3
Cheng Tat Wa 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
mEz W3 liE] W3
Li Jianyong 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
BB 54l ikl ikl
20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
W3 liE] W3
Chan Sin Hang 4,500,000 - - - - 4,500,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
REt W3 liE] W3
Sub Total: 386,500,000 20,000,000 - (50,000,000) - 356,500,000
et
Employee (in aggregate) 81,500,000 (10,000,000) - - - 71,500,000 Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
&8 (&) iE:d] Mz ikl
23,000,000 - - (23,000,000) - - Note 2 Note 2 Note 2
i) liE) liE7)
278,000,000 (10,000,000) - (80,000,000) - 188,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
W3 liE] W3
25,000,000 - - (10,000,000) - 15,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
WS WS liE)
10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 6 Note 6 Note 6
Wiz6 B LB
Sub Total : 417,500,000 (20,000,000) - (113,000,000) - 284,500,000
It
Other eligible persons: (in aggregate) 266,000,000 - - - - 266,000,000 Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
RMAERAL: (B5) Wiz ikl ikl
21,000,000 - - - - 21,000,000 Note 2 Note 2 Note 2
i) liE) liE7)
276,000,000 - - (10,000,000) - 266,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
W3 W3 W3
400,000,000 - - - - 400,000,000 Note 4 Note 4 Note 4
Wiz Wiz Wiz
Sub Total : 963,000,000 - - (10,000,000) - 953,000,000
It
Total: 1,767,000,000 - - (173,000,000) - 1,594,000,000
@t

EEEEMBMRAR —T_TEFR
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Notes:

These share options were granted on 6 September 2013 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.108 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 6 September 2013 to 5
September 2023.

These share options were granted on 29 July 2014 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.1136 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 29 July 2014 to 28 July
2024.

These share options were granted on 20 November 2014 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.201 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 20 November 2014 to 19
November 2024.

These share options were granted on 14 July 2015 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.395 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 14 July 2015 to 13 July
2025.

These share options were granted on 9 December 2016 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.228 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 9 December 2016 to 08
December 2026.

These share options were granted on 20 January 2017 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.1872 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 20 January 2017 to 19
January 2027.
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ZEBREN _Z—=FAA/BES"
AR ZE—=FNARAE_T_=&F
NEBABZ10FHBREAEBRE R
0.108B T2 BEBEITE-

ZEERENR _E2—NFLAZ+AAE
Ho AR —FE—OFLAZ+AREZ
ETNFEEAZ+N\HZ10FHBAER
R B2 A20.1136 BT 250 BEITfE-

REMBRN B —ME+—F 1+
o WA FE—ME+—A -+ AE—
F_ME+—A+ARZI0EHERER
BRI AR0. 20138 T 2 AT

ZEBREN _Z—HEFtA+HAR
Lo WAR _E-AaFEtA+NAEZZ
—AFEtA+=HZ10F BRI R
B RR0.395B T Z BB ET R

ZEBERER_E—RE+_AIBE
B AR ZE—RE+ANHEZE
TRE+TZRNBZ10E AR R E AT RS
W% ER0.228B T 2 BEEITF
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= & T30 A
E%EE#ED =

The principal terms of the Scheme are briefly summarised below: SR FEERBAIT -

1)

Purpose of the Scheme

stEIZ B/

Participants of the Scheme

stEz2

As incentives and rewards to eligible participants for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group

EREERSRENAERFLEMEUEE SR ZHE MR

a)

any employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director) of
the Company, any of its subsidiaries, or any entity (the “Invested
Entity”) in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest;

KA HAEMMBADNAEREARE AT FHEEADREZ
ERIER (FAREBR) 2 EAEE (TR BoRE  8iFF
AHITESEFBEERIFNTES) ;

any non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors), any of the subsidiaries of the Company or any Invested
Entity;
RABEAMBRARNERAEEERZERIFRNTES (B85
BIFFRITESR) ;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

REBFRIKNEABINEMMIREER Y T AERHRFBHE
i

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

FEBNEAAREBRZEAES ;

any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity;
REEENEAMREBRIRHMRE BRI EMRN R ZE
AIALHER ;

any shareholder of any member of the Group other than the
Company or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities
issued by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
AEBEAHRERE (RRABRIN REFRFAIREBR ZERIR
o NAEBEEANERATNERMFAREBRAETENRSZ
CREEST=/N

any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and
AEEEAHRERANEFMEEER I EBREBERPE
I EZ AR (Fama B E S EMEAR) A 5 &

any other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of the
Group.

BREECE EHHBENEMERTBMB AN EHAER
ERKERFHERMNVEMEMARNERNSEE

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER
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3)

Total number of Shares available
for issue under the Scheme

RIFE BRI H B ITRIR M B

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
the exercise of all options (excluding such options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group) to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Group must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the Shares in issue on the date of approval of the Scheme (the
"General Scheme Limit").

HRB B A ERBERAEMBRESISTREZFABEBRE (R
BEREBS SR AEREAEMBRES S 2 GRERMZBRE)
BITEMAERE BT ROBHESHETEBANESTEIEREE
TP Z210% (T—ReEH &I EPR)) ©

Subject to the rules of the Scheme, the Company may seek approval of
its shareholders in general meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit
provided that the total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the Group must not exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed limit. For
the purpose of calculating the refreshed limit, such options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group) previously
granted under the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Group will not be counted.

ESERAZIRR T RRAB A SKERRERRAG EHETH—
AestEl LR AR 8 kA ERE A HMBRES IR TREZ
FrA IR IEEITHEMeI AL R BT RN BN SBEA ELER
FIREBBEEITRMZ10% et ELEH LRMES > LRIRIETE
R A EBEREMBRESZIR L 2 BRMERE (B1F B8R4
EEFIEMBRESBIRTHE B2  BERVMEBITHEZBERE)
TEstEER-

Upon the date of approval of the refreshment of the General Scheme
Limit by its shareholders on 31 October 2017, the Company may issue
up to 2,033,787,274 Shares (the “Refreshed General Scheme Limit"),
representing 10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at
31 October 2017.

A ZE—tFE+RB=+—BREMAEET—ftE LIRBRE AR
Bl A 8171 i8182,033,787, 274 R 15 (B EHM—AREHEI LR - BIA
ARER_B—tE+A=T—HZBETEREZ10%"

Given the Refreshed General Scheme Limit had not yet been utilized as
at 31 December 2020, the total number of Shares available for issue by
the Company upon exercise of options not yet granted under the Scheme
remained as 2,033,787,274 Shares.

EREEH—RtB RN 2 _EF+_HA=+—HkKEHA"
RIFtEIE R B BREETER A AT E T RMDEENS
2,033,787,274f% °
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4)

Maximum number of shares
available for issue under
the Scheme

REstEI I HEITZ

KirR=#HE

Maximum entitlement of each
participant under the Scheme
SEETER2REZ RS

The period within which the
shares must be taken up
under an option

BB EE T RGN Z R

The minimum period for
which an option must be
held before it can be exercised
BREFITREAAREZ
RAZHARE

Directors’ Report
EEEHEE

ddin

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon the exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Scheme (and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group) must
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in
issue from time to time.

Rt 8l (RAEEFEMZ EREMBERETE) TRREERE ZE1T
FINBERERITEBREBTERAIZTZRORSHME  aHEFEE
BARNBNFEEEITRAZ30%

As at 31 December 2020, the maximum number of Shares that may be
issued by the Company upon exercise of all outstanding options already
granted under the Scheme is 1,594,000,000, representing approximately
7.83% of the total number of Shares in issue of the Company as at 31
December 2020.

R_E_EF+_RB=+—H REHEREMERITEZBRE
E2#MTERAAT ST ZRMNESHE#1,594,000,0008% > BlZ<
REN BT F+_A=+—HZBEETRMHERNT83%-

In any 12-month period, shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
RAERER Z BB SBEaEEITRMZ1%

The Board may in its absolute discretion determine save that such period
shall not expire later than 10 years from the date of grant

EFEVEHNBEREXIR  EZBRTFENHR D BHES+
FrEm

Unless otherwise determined by the Board, no minimum period

BREEFEERAEE SR EREHRE

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER
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8)  The amount payable on
application or acceptance of
the option and the period
within which payments or
calls must or may be made
or loans for such purposes
must be repaid

R SUIRMAE IR R RS 2
FRIE > LA 785N, Bl 52 A4 FRIE B¢
EHRIBEREEMULEEAZ
BM < HAR

9)  The basis of determining the
exercise price

TEBzEEREE

10) The remaining life of the Scheme

58 = BRF A7

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall inform the Company
together with HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant within 21 days
from the date of offer

REMERER ) ARARNHENAMES2IRAMEER AT L
MABTIERRENE

The exercise price is determined by the Board and being not less than the
highest of:
THEEHEEGRERFARKUT=EZESE !

a)

the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of shares
on the date of offer for grant which must be a business day; or
RONBLABE CEREER) MBS HRERMIIMET—
FREFROPEECLBZKTHE; K

the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board
lots of shares for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
date of offer for grant which must be a business day; or

3 Ti%%hz%iﬁ HE CEREXH) A AEEXHBIFAE AR
BRAIIEET FHAZSFRNMPEEEAZFHIRTE ; X

the nominal value thereof

RinZ EE

The Scheme remains in force until 12 June 2023

AER—BEEREEE_ZFA+IAARL
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director or an entity
connected with a director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, no
Directors are considered to have interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the employer
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensations.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company’s business were entered into or existed
during the Year.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code of
conduct governing securities transactions by the Directors. All
Directors, after specific enquiries by the Company, had confirmed
to the Company their compliance with the required standards set
out in the Model Code during the Year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Turnover

The percentage of the Group's revenue (included continuing and
discontinued operations) attributable to the five largest customers
for the Year is as follows:

91.57%
100.00%

— The largest customer
— The five largest customers in aggregate

Purchases

The percentage of the Group’s purchase (included continuing and
discontinued operations) attributable to the five largest suppliers
for the Year is as follows:

34.28%
100%

— The largest supplier
— The five largest suppliers in aggregate

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholder of the Company (who to the
Directors’ knowledge was interested in or owned more than 5
per cent. of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in the
customers or suppliers referred to above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

None of the “Related Party Transactions” constituted discloseable
non-exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing
connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group

and the Company during the Year are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 84 and note 30 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company'’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to approximately
HK$Nil (2019: HK$NIl).

ANALYSIS OF BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

No borrowings was made and no interest was capitalised by the
Group during the Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

The number of issued ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the
Company as at 31 December 2020 was 20,352,872,747 (2019:
20,352,872,747).

Movements in share capital of the Company are shown in note 29
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or by
other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any proposed
distribution of dividends is subject to the discretion of the
Board and, where applicable, the approval of the Shareholders.
The Board will consider various factors before declaring or
recommending any payment of dividends which factors include
the results of operation of the business of the Group, the retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group, the Group's actual and expected
financial performance, the general business conditions and
strategies, the Group's expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans, the general economic conditions
and business cycle of the Group’s business, the future prospects
of the business of the Group, shareholders’ interests, statutory
and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividend and other
internal or external factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final
dividend to shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: Nil).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company had maintained the prescribed level of public float as
required under the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' INDEMNITIES

According to the Company’s bye-laws, each director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities (to the extent allowed by the
Companies Act, 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) which such
director may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
director’s duties or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group. Such
insurance to indemnify them against liabilities arising from the
execution of their duties was in force during the Year and remain
effective as at the date of the Directors’ report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The automotive industry is one of the most environmental aware
business sectors. To preserve the environment, the Group strives
to devise and adopt environmental friendly strategies, policies
and measures (through the concepts of reducing, re-using and re-
cycling) to achieve sustainable development, and is committed
to conducting its activities in @ manner consistent with the above
determination.

These strategies, policies and measures include but not limited
to (i) using energy-efficient lighting and appliances, recycling of
office supplies and other materials in the workplace to the extent
practicable, (ii) working or partnering with renowned academics
and strategic business partners in the research and development
of both technologically advanced and energy saving auto-
components and materials (such as single and few-layer graphene,
battery materials, super batteries and electric control systems) for
the electric buses, new engine and other vehicles designed and/or
manufactured by the Group, (iii) setting up or using energy-saving
and technologically advanced establishments and facilities for the
manufacture of new energy products for auto-use, (iv) setting
criteria for the selection of our suppliers and manufacturers which
must be reliable, financially sound, environmental conscientious
and are keen to adopt sustainability measures in their business
and operation and (v) educating and reinforcing environmental
protection awareness among employees of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board recognizes the importance of the Company to
act responsibly and due compliance with the laws, rules and
regulations applicable to the businesses operated by the Group.
The Group has employed suitable personnel and engaged
appropriate professional advisers to ensure that it stays abreast
with legislative changes and industry developments and its
operations are being run in line with the applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

During the Year, the Company had complied with, and the Board
is not aware of any violation of, the applicable laws, rules and
regulations that had a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group in any material respects.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Company is committed to upholding a positive image for
the Group and building trust and loyalty among its stakeholders,
employees, customers, suppliers and other business partners. The
Board considers that the Company has all along maintained good
relationships with its stakeholders, employees, key customers,
suppliers and other business partners, which are beneficial to the
long-term development of the Group.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change in the
information of Director of the Company required to be disclosed is
shown as follow:

Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace resigned as an independent non-
executive director of Chuan Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange) with effect from 16 June 2020. He has
been appointed as an independent non-executive director of Kirin
Group Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange)
with effect from 1 September 2020.

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited will retire at the conclusion of
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
"AGM"), and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-
appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yeung Yung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 May 2021

*  For identification purpose only
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of
the Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is
committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
to ensure better transparency and protection of the overall
interests of the Company and its shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company wishes to
highlight that the Board will continue to devote efforts in
ensuring effective leadership and control of the Company and the
transparency and accountability of all operations.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year”),
the Company had applied the principles and complied with
the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board

The Board is accountable to the shareholders of the Company
for leadership and control of the Company and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company and its
businesses by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The
Board focuses on overall corporate strategies and policies with
emphasis on the business growth and financial performance of the
Group.

The Board has determined that certain matters such as strategic
planning, significant transactions, and budget should be retained
for the Board’s approval. It has formalized the functions reserved
to the Board to achieve a clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the senior management of the Group. The Board
has delegated its responsibilities to the senior management to deal
with day-to-day operations and reviewed those arrangements on
a periodic basis. The senior management has frequently reported
back to the Board and obtained prior approval before making
decisions for key matters or entering into any commitments on
behalf of the Company.
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TEERY

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions of the Company with clear written terms
of reference. The Board had reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance, compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, training and continuous professional
development of its directors and senior management and this
corporate governance report in the discharge of its corporate
governance functions and to ensure compliance with the Listing
Rules.

In order to maximize the effectiveness of the Board and to
encourage active participation and contribution from Board
members, the Board has established three Committees (namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee) (the “Committee(s)”), each with
specific written terms of reference (which are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code) to
assist in the execution of their duties. The terms of reference of
each of the Committees are reviewed and amended (if necessary)
from time to time, as are the Committees’ structure, duties and
composition so as to best suit the needs of, and foster corporate
governance excellence in, the Company.

The Company Secretary and the external auditor engaged by the
Company shall attend the annual general meeting (the “AGM")
of the Company and, as far as possible, all other meetings of the
Board and the committees of the Board to answer questions and
advise on corporate governance, statutory compliance, accounting
and financial matters. The Company Secretary is an employee of
the Company and is appointed by the Board. All Directors have
access to the Company Secretary who is responsible for facilitating
the Board's processes, liaison among members of the Board and
the Group's compliance with the continuing obligations under
the Listing Rules, the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Buy-backs, the Companies Ordinance, the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and other laws, rules and regulations applicable to the
Group. During the Year, the Company Secretary had undertaken at
least 15 hours of relevant professional training annually to update
his skills and knowledge.

All Directors are encouraged to propose and include items in the
agenda of each of the meetings of the Board and the Committees
for full discussion and deliberation. The Company Secretary is
delegated with the responsibility to prepare the agenda and,
where appropriate, take into account any matters proposed by any
Director/Committee member for inclusion in the agenda.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board meets regularly and at least four Board meetings are
scheduled annually at approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc
meetings are convened whenever necessary.

Due notice of Board meetings are given to or, depending on the
circumstances, urgency and/or importance of the matters, agreed
to be shortened or waived by all the Directors. Even though the
Directors often stay/travel in different time zones, they endeavour
to make themselves available for, and participate in the meetings
to the extent possible via teleconferencing mechanisms or other
electronic means.

Minutes of the Board/Committee meetings are recorded in
details for the matters considered by the participants of such
meetings and decisions reached, including concerns raised by
Directors and/or dissenting views expressed. The meeting minutes
are circulated to the Directors or Committee members within a
reasonable period of time after the meetings are held and taken
as the true records of the proceedings of such meetings. They are
kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at
any reasonable time upon reasonable notice being served by any
Director. All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers
and related materials at least 3 days before the intended date of
a Board or Board committee meeting unless there are restrictions
on disclosure due to legal and regulatory requirements or other
justifiable grounds.

Directors are provided with complete, adequate explanation and
information to enable them to make an informed decision or
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects
and to discharge their duties and responsibilities on a timely basis.
To enable the Directors to properly discharge their duties, they are
given access to independent professional advisers, when necessary,
at the expense of the Company.

Whenever a member of the Board or member of a committee of
the Board has cause to believe that a matter to be voted upon
would involve him in a conflict or possible conflict of interest, he
is required to disclose the conflict of interest and is not allowed
to participate in the final deliberation or decision and will abstain
from voting on such matter.
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Attendance Records of Board/General Meetings
The Board had held five meetings during the year ended 31

December 2020.

Details of the attendance of individual Director at general
meetings (including annual general meeting) and Board meetings

during the Year are set out below:

Name of Member

BEE
EFERNEE
FEHBTARGE-

©r i

g RRAGHELER

Number of general
meetings attended

—E =

= —=<

F+-"A=+—H

BEENEAFERLERRAE (BERR
BFERE) REFGEHZIFBFHIWT :

Number of Board
meetings attended

HERRAE HEEEgEE

R4 ZRE ZRE
Executive Directors HiTEE

Dr Yeung Yung MERE L 11 5/5

Mr. Feng Rui bt 1/1 5/5

Dr Huang Chunhua BEERLT 0/1 2/5@

(resigned on 27 December 2020) (R —E_—FLF
+ZAZ+EtHEE

Dr Wang Chuantao F)IEEL 1/1 3/5

Mr Liu Stephen Quan RIR&E 0/1 3/5

Dr Zhu Shengliang KERIEL 1/1 5/5

Mr Li Zhengshan FiEWESE 11 4/5

Mr Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny TEIEES: 11 5/5

Mr Chen Xiao = e 1/1 4/5
Non-executive Director FEHITESE

Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim BEREL 1/1 4/5
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUIFMITEE

Dr Zhu Guobin REDRE L 11 4/5

Mr Cheng Tat Wa EREIESE 1/1 5/5

Dr Li Jianyong FTEEEL 1/1 5/5

Mr Chan Sin Hang FREMTfE 1/1 5/5

Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace FHRIRSE 1/1 5/5

a) Dr. Huang Chunhua resigned with effect from 27 December 2020  a)
and attended two meetings before his resignation in the Year.
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Board composition

During the Year, the Board comprised the following members
(who remained in office as at 31 December 2020 unless otherwise

specified below):

Name
Executive Directors
Dr Yeung Yung (Chairman)
Mr Feng Rui (Chief Executive Officer)
Dr Huang Chunhua (Deputy Chairman)
(resigned on 27 December 2020)
Dr Wang Chuantao (Deputy Chairman)
Mr Liu Stephen Quan
Dr Zhu Shengliang
Mr Li Zhengshan
Mr Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny
Mr Chen Xiao

Non-executive Director
Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr Zhu Guobin
Mr Cheng Tat Wa
Dr Li Jianyong
Mr Chan Sin Hang
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace

The biographies and other information of the current Directors
are set out in the "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. There is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship among the

Directors.
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Under bye-law 87(1) of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws”), at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three
(3)), then the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
the Directors are subject to the free and absolute choice of the
shareholders for re-election at the annual general meetings.
Whereas under bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the existing Board should hold office until the next following
general meeting of the Company.

By virtue of Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws, (1) Mr Liu Stephen
Quan; (2) Dr Zhu Shengliang; (3) Mr Feng Rui; (4) Dr Zhu Guobin;
and (5) Mr Lee Cheung Yuet Horace had retired at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 23 July 2020 (the “2020
AGM"), and being eligible, offered themselves for re-election (and
were re-elected) at the 2020 AGM.

The skills and expertise among the existing Directors are well-
balanced with a mixture of core competencies in areas such
as accounting and finance, legal, business and management,
marketing strategies, business development, and scientific
backgrounds.

The independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) meet
the requirements of independence under the Listing Rules so that
there is a sufficient element of independence in the Board to
exercise independent judgments. The Board considers that all of
the INEDs are independent and the confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules had been obtained from
each of them as required by the Listing Rules.

The INEDs have the same duties of care and skill and fiduciary
duties as the executive Directors.
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The functions of INEDs include, but not limited to:

o participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgment to bear on issues of corporate strategy, corporate
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments
and standard of conducts;

o taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

o serving as member of and actively participating on matters
delegated by the Board to the committee(s) established by
the Board, if invited;

o attending general meetings of the Company and developing
a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders; and

o scrutinizing the Group's performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives and monitoring the reporting
of performance.

Chairman, Deputy Chairmen and CEO

As at 31 December 2020, the Chairman of the Company was Dr
Yeung Yung. The Deputy Chairmen of the Company was Dr Wang
Chuantao. Mr Feng Rui was appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer (“CEOQ") of the Company on 1 January 2020.

The Chairman of the Company provides leadership to the Board so
that the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely manner.

The Deputy Chairman of the Company assist the Chairman of the
Company in carrying out his duties.

The position of CEO is vested with executive responsibilities
over the business directions and operational decisions of the
management and performance of the Group.

The Chairman of the Company also seeks to ensure that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues raised at Board meetings
and receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.
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Appointment, Re-election, Retirement and Removal

It is the Board's responsibility to select and appoint individuals
with integrity, experience and calibre to act as directors of the
Company. The Board reviews the profiles of the candidates and
seek recommendations from the Nomination Committee of the
Board on the appointment, re-election, retirement and removal of
directors.

All Directors are subject to rotation at least once in every three
years as required by the Bye-laws. Each Director is briefed and
updated to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
operations and business of the Group and that he acquaints
himself with the common law duties and responsibilities of acting
as a director for a listed company and familiarise himself with the
applicable laws and regulations (including without limitation, the
Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance, the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, and the governance policies of the Company).

Each of the non-executive Directors (including INEDs) is appointed
for an initial term of not more than two years commencing from
his date of appointment and is renewable successively for a term
of one year until terminated by either party by giving not less than
one month'’s prior written notice to the other and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election by shareholders at annual
general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws. Every Director
shall ensure that he can contribute sufficient time and effort
to the corporate affairs of the Company once he accepts the
appointment.

Inside information

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company's Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to ensure
that unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee with specific terms
of reference (which are of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the Corporate Governance Code) to enable each of the
Committees to discharge its functions properly.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing financial
statements and internal control system of the Group. It also
provides advice on the financial and accounting policies of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors (namely Mr Cheng Tat Wa,
Mr Chan Sin Hang and Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace), and the
chairman of the Audit Committee as at the date of this report was
Mr Cheng Tat Wa.

Three meetings of the Audit Committee were held for the year
ended 31 December 2020. The individual attendance of each
member is set out below:

DR SLGR AL
T=EERMT
BREET

B ETEAEERNAER 2B HRERR
NEPBEIER M U AER 2 BB R 25t
BEHRRHEER-

A TECTFTR=+—H ' BZEES
H=%BIUIFRTES BIMEELE W
EHMRERFHINCE) BN MRERS
B BREEGZETEAMEESRE-

BERZEERBE_ZT_TE+°A
=T+—HLEFERBET=ZREZ -BFHEZ
HEREEIWMT -

Number of

meetings attended

Name of Member RE%S HEEERY

Mr Cheng Tat Wa Bt 3/3

Mr Chan Sin Hang REBLE 33

Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace EBINSTE 3/3
During the Year, the Audit Committee performed the following BWIZEZEGENAEERNIT FFIIT/E !

work:

o Reviewed with the management the Group's annual and
interim results and draft consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019 and for the six
months ended 30 June 2020 respectively

o Reviewed with the management the Group’s financial
reporting and auditing matters, the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and their adequacy
and effectiveness

o Reviewed and discussed with independent external auditor
of the Company on significant audit findings

o Reviewed the disclaimer of opinion of the independent
external auditor on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
assessed the position and views of the management of the
Group towards the disclaimer of opinion by the auditor and
its impact or possible impact on the financial position of the
Group;
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TEEARSS

o Recommended to the Board the re-appointment of
the independent external auditor of the Company for
shareholders” approval

o Carried out such other duties as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code which included the review of the
independence and objectivity of the external auditor, the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations,
as well as the terms of their engagement. The Audit
Committee was satisfied with the outcome of their
review, and the Board shared the same views of the Audit
Committee.

The Company Secretary keeps the minutes of the Audit
Committee. Draft and final versions have been sent to all members
of the Audit Committee within a reasonable time after the
meeting for their comments and records respectively.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for the Year, which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group's results and cash flows for the year then ended and were
properly prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with the
applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility in the Independent Auditor’s
Report

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (the “Auditor”), the independent
external auditor, has also stated its reporting responsibility in
the independent auditor’s report of the consolidated financial
statements for the Year.
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Material uncertainty related to going concern
expressed by the Auditor

The Auditor has expressed a disclaimer of opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year (as set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report) related to, among other
matters, a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and its basis,
which is reproduced below:

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of
HK$100,791,000 and operating cash outflow of HK$94,435,000
for the year ended 31 December 2020. These conditions indicate
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, the validity of which depends upon the major shareholder
has agreed to provide adequate funds for the Group to meet its
liabilities as they fall due. The consolidated financial statements
do not include any adjustments that would result from the failure
to obtain the financial support. We consider that the material
uncertainty has been adequately disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements.

However, we were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the validity of the financial
support from the major shareholder as described above. There
are no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to
determine whether the major shareholder has the financial ability
to honour the financial support to the Group. We disclaim our
opinion in respect of the material uncertainty relating to the going
concern basis.

Directors’ position on the material uncertainty related to
going concern

As disclosed in the Directors’ Report contained in this annual
report, the Directors have confidence in the Major Shareholder’s
continued commitment and support towards the Group as had
been demonstrated in the past, and believe that the Major
Shareholder is ready, willing and able to offer such other assistance
(financial or otherwise) to the Group to enhance its financial
flexibility and capability as and when the circumstances arise.

TEEABRSS
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Further, the Directors have been proactively exploring (i) all
possible financial alternatives (including but not limited to equity
financing, debt financing, rights issue, open offer or bank
borrowings); (ii) collaborations with potential business partners
and investors to develop the business of the Group. These
collaborations may take the form of joint venture(s) or other forms
of alliance with potential business partners and investors to invest
in, develop or diversify the businesses of the Group in which (a)
the Group may contribute its expertise and intangible assets (such
as intellectual property rights owned by the Group) and (b) the
potential business partners or investors may inject working capital
to allow each party to fully leverage on each other’s capabilities.

During the Year, the Company had identified a number of
potential business partners or investors (including governmental
authorities in the PRC, manufacturers in the automobile industry
and institutional investors) which had expressed interest in
collaborating with or investment in the Group. However, the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic had significantly hindered
the negotiation progress and negatively affected the sentiment of
such potential business partners or investors, which had generally
adopted a more prudent approach, in vigorously pursuing such
possible new business ventures or investment during the Year.

Nevertheless, with the continued support from the Major
Shareholder, together with the unwavering efforts and
commitment of the Company’s management in seeking potential
collaborations, investment or divestment (such as the Ningbo Joint
Venture as disclosed in the Directors’ Report) opportunities for
the Group with a view to improving the liquidity, operation and
performance of the Group in the long run, the Directors believe
that the Company will manage to have sufficient working capital
for the operation and development of the Group’s business
so that the disclaimer of opinion in relation to the material
uncertainty will not be carried forward to the Group's financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2021.

The Company will make further announcement(s) on any potential
fund raising, collaboration and/or investment opportunities and
comply with the applicable requirements of the Listing Rules as
and when appropriate.
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Audit Committee’s view on the Directors’ position

The Audit Committee confirmed that they understood the material
uncertainty related to going concern of the Group. They had
considered and agreed with the Directors’ position as set out
above.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the Year, the fees paid/payable to the external auditor in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the external
auditor of the Group were as follows:

TEEABRSS

BREEEHERIURZRE
BRZZECHANSTTREBAERRE
MEZBERTEEE -REBERILRAT L
NFrEz EEIG

ZBET AN =
RAFER AR RMAF
BRIFBZRBEN BT INEZEEM
ZERWT:

HK$

BT

Audit service B 2R 1,400,000
Non-audit services* JEEIZ AR 180,000
1,580,000

# The non-audit services mainly comprised review of interim financial ~ * FBERRFFECEERTPHRMBER

information, professional services in relation to possible transactions
and tax compliance services.

Internal Controls and Risk Management

The Board has overall responsibility for overseeing management
in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and
establishing procedures to enable the Group to identify, evaluate
and monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems in a
timely manner. During the Year, the Company had, together with
the senior management of the Group and the audit committee
of the Board, reviewed and evaluated the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and considered that they
were adequate and remained effective.

The risk management and internal control systems, including
a defined management structure with limits of authority, are
designed to help achieving business objectives, safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use, and maintaining proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use and for publication. The establishment
of such systems is designed to manage the Group's risks within an
acceptable risk profile, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable assurance but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, including financial, operational
and compliance controls as well as the process used to identify,
evaluate and manage significant risks faced by the Group. The
Board also reviews the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group's
accounting and financial reporting functions.

Internal Audit Function

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a
need for an internal audit department. Given the Group's relatively
simple corporate and operation structure, as opposed to diverting
resources to establish a separate internal audit department, the
Board, supported by the Audit Committee, is directly responsible
for risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up the Remuneration Committee to
ensure that there are formal and transparent procedures for
formulating policies on the remuneration of the Directors and
senior management. As at 31 December 2020, the Remuneration
Committee comprised Dr Yeung Yung (an executive Director and
the Chairman of the Board) and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace and Mr Cheng
Tat Wa. Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace was the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee determined the
policy for the remuneration of executive Directors, assessed the
performance of the executive Directors and approved the terms
of their service contracts. The Remuneration Committee had also
made recommendations to the Board regarding the Company’s
remuneration policy and the formulation and review of the
remuneration package of all Directors and senior management
of the Group for determination by the Board and considered and
dealt with matters relating to appointment, retirement and re-
election of Directors.

No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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Details of the remuneration paid to members of the senior
management of the Group (including the Directors) by band for
the Year are set out below:

TEERWS

FEEXNTFAEESHREEENE (B
EF) NFHingES D ZFBHIWT ¢

Number of senior

Remuneration band management
Fr M SE E SREEBAY
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7T LA T 13
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1,000,001 75 22,500,000/ 7T 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 2,500,001 75 54,000,000 7T -
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 4,000,001 755,500,000 7T -
HK$5,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 5,500,001 75 27,000,000 7T -
HK$7,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 7,000,001 75%8,500,0007 7T -
One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held for the #HMZEENRNHE_Z _ZEE£+_ A
year ended 31 December 2020. The individual attendance of each =+—HIEFEHBIT—RNFE -SHEZ
member is set out below. HEZEHIIMT

Number of
Name of Member meetings attended
REH# HEEERH

Dr Yeung Yung EEL
Mr Cheng Tat Wa WEELL
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace RIS E

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

Nomination Committee

The Company has a Nomination Committee to ensure that there
are fair and transparent procedures for the appointment, re-
election and removal of directors to the Board. As at 31 December
2020, the Nomination Committee comprised Mr Cheng Tat Wa
and Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace, both being independent non-
executive Directors, and Dr Yeung Yung, being the Chairman of
the Board and an executive Director. Dr. Yeung Yung was the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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Nomination Policy and Procedures

To ensure the composition of the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business, the Company has, with
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, adopted a
formal, considered and transparent procedure for the selection,
appointment and re-appointment (as the case may be) of
Directors. The criteria to be taken into account when considering
the suitability of a candidate, among other things, will be his or
her ability to:

(a)

bring an independent judgment and make constructive
recommendation on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conducts;

take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and/or the Nomination Committee and/or any
other Board committee(s), if invited;

devote sufficient time to the Board and/or any Committee(s)
on which he or she serves so as to allow them to benefit
from his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds
and qualifications and diversity through attendance and
participation in the Board and/or Committee meetings;

scrutinize the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting
of performance;

ensure the Committee(s) on which he or she serves to
perform its/their powers and functions conferred on it/them
by the Board; and

conform to any requirement, direction and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitutional documents of the Company
or imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules, where
appropriate.
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If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director (INED), his or her independence shall be
assessed in accordance with, among other things, the factors
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any
amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to
time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider
whether he or she has the appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise for filling
the office of an INED with such qualifications or expertise as
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Except for Mr Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny (executive Director) who
is not seeking re-election at the 2021 AGM, the Nomination
Committee has nominated (a) Dr Yeung Yung (Chairman and
executive Director), (b) Mr Li Zhengshan (executive Director), (c)
Mr Chen Xiao (executive Director) and (d) Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim
(non-executive Director) to the Board for the Board to make
recommendation to the Shareholders for re-election at the
2021 AGM, having reviewed the composition of the Board and
having regard to the proposed re-elected Directors’ professional
experience, skills, knowledge and/or length of service, their
commitment to their respective roles and functions, and their
respective contributions brought and to be brought to the Group.

On the existing independent non-executive Directors, the
Nomination Committee considered (and the Board shared the
same views), that at all times during the period of directorship
with the Company, each of them had properly discharged his
duties and responsibilities as an independent non-executive
Director and had made positive contribution to the development
to the Company through independent, constructive and informed
comments and participation at the business and other affairs
relating to the Group. The Nomination Committee (as well as the
Board) was satisfied with the independence of these independent
non-executive Directors, having regard to the independence
criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the annual
confirmation given by each of them to the Company on his
independence.

Dr Yeung Yung, being one of the members of the Nomination
Committee, had abstained from voting at the meeting of the
Nomination Committee when his own nomination was being
considered.
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AN S S ER A
TEEELABRSS

One meeting of the Nomination Committee was held for the year
ended 31 December 2020. The individual attendance of each
member is set out below:

RLEZEEBERNBE_Z_2+_A
S+ —HLEFEHBT —REF-ZEMEZ
HEREHMT

Number of
Name of Member meetings attended
ME%H HEEERY
Dr Yeung Yung ELiEL 11
Mr Cheng Tat Wa EREIESE 11
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace FHRIRSE 11

During the Year, the Nomination Committee carried out the
process of selecting and recommending to the Board candidates
for directorship with reference to the diversity policy of the
Company, including the candidate’s professional knowledge,
industry experience, personal ethics, integrity and skills, evaluated
the Board’'s composition, assessed the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and recommended the re-
appointment of retiring Directors for shareholders’ approval at the
2020 AGM.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Continuous Professional Development

During the Year, all Directors (as named under the paragraph
"Board composition” of this report) were provided by the
Company with materials (including but not limited to updates on
Listing Rules and guidelines on Directors’ Duties) to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Company also encouraged all Directors to participate from time to
time courses which they consider relevant at the expense of the
Company so as to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
for better fulfillment of their duties as directors of a listed issuer.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors. All
Directors, after specific enquiries by the Company, confirmed to
the Company their compliance with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout the Year.

CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there were no changes in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND
COMMUNICATION

The Company is committed to (i) protecting the rights of
Shareholders and ensuring that each Shareholder is treated equally
and fairly; and (i) reinforcing the trust placed in the Company
by the Shareholders by remaining open and transparent, which
objective the Company believes is the hallmark of a high quality
company.

The Company attaches great importance to communication
with the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote
greater understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders and the
investing public.

The means of access includes without limitation the despatch
to Shareholders and/or release by the Company of the various
corporate communication of the Company (such as interim and
annual reports, circulars, notices, financial reports, press releases
and other business information) via the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the
Company (http://hk1188.etnet.com.hk).
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Shareholders are encouraged by the Company to attend general
meetings of the Company where the Chairman of the Company
and other members of the Board and (if appropriate) the auditors
of the Company, are available to answer questions.

The following procedures are in place by which Shareholders may
(@) convene a special general meeting (the “SGM"); (b) make
proposals at Shareholders” meeting; and (c) send enquiries to the
Board to achieve the above purposes.

(@)

Procedures by which Shareholders can convene a
SGM

Pursuant to section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), a Shareholder or
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company may
requisition the Directors to forthwith proceed duly to
convene a SGM by depositing a written requisition at the
registered office of the Company. Bye-law 58 of the Bye-
laws provides for this right as well.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting (including the resolutions to be considered at the
meeting), signed by the requisitionists, deposited at the
registered office of the Company at Victoria Place, 5th
Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one
or more requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
SGM, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition.

A SGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be convened

in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Directors.
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(b) Procedures for making proposals at Shareholders’
meetings
Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain
Shareholder(s) to requisition the Company to move a
resolution at an annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the
Company or circulate a statement at any general meeting
of the Company. Under section 79 of the Companies Act,
at the expense of the requisitionists unless the Company
otherwise resolves, it shall be the duty of the Company on
the requisition in writing by such number of Shareholders:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

to give to the Shareholders entitled to receive notice
of the next AGM notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting;

to circulate to the Shareholders entitled to have notice
of any general meeting sent to them any statement
of not more than one thousand words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting;

the number of Shareholders necessary to make the
above-mentioned requisitions to the Company shall
be:

- either any number of Shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having at the date
of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting
to which the requisition relates; or

- not less than one hundred Shareholders.

(b)
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Notice of any such intended resolution shall be given, and
any such statement shall be circulated, to Shareholders
entitled to have notice of the meeting sent to them by
serving a copy of the resolution or statement on each such
Shareholder in any manner permitted for service of notice of
the meeting, and notice of any such resolution shall be given
to any other Shareholder by giving notice of the general
effect of the resolution in any manner permitted for giving
him notice of meeting of the Company, provided that the
copy shall be served, or notice of the effect of the resolution
shall be given, as the case may be, in the same manner
and, so far as practicable, at the same time as notice of the
meeting and, where it is not practicable for it to be served
or given at that time, it shall be served or given as soon as
practicable thereafter.

Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions to
be met before the Company is bound to give any notice of
resolution or to circulate any statement. Pursuant to section
80 of the Companies Act, the Company shall not be bound
to give notice of any resolution or to circulate any statement
as mentioned above unless:

(i)  a copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists,
or two or more copies which between them contain
the signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited at
the registered office of the Company:

- in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution, not less than six weeks before the
meeting; and

- in the case of any other requisition, not less than
one week before the meeting;

(i) there is deposited or tendered with the requisition
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expense in giving effect to the procedures regarding
the giving of notice of resolution and/or circulation of
statement,
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Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring
notice of a resolution has been deposited at the registered
office of the Company, an AGM s called for a date six
weeks or less after the copy has been deposited, the copy
though not deposited within the above-mentioned time
shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board
Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the
Company for any enquiries in relation to the affairs of the
Group. Shareholders may contact the Company in writing or
by telephone or facsimile:

Address . Principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong — Suites 1407-8, 14/F,
Great Eagle Centre, 23 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Telephone :  +(852) 2530 9218

Facsimile :  +(852) 2525 2002

Attention : Board of Directors/Company Secretary
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ZHONGHUI
To the Shareholders of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Disclaimer of Opinion

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 82 to 155, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of
our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of
HK$100,791,000 and operating cash outflow of HK$94,435,000
for the year ended 31 December 2020. These conditions indicate
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, the validity of which depends upon the major shareholder
has agreed to provide adequate funds for the Group to meet its
liabilities as they fall due. The consolidated financial statements
do not include any adjustments that would result from the failure
to obtain the financial support. We consider that the material
uncertainty has been adequately disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements.

However, we were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the validity of the financial
support from the major shareholder as described above. There
are no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to
determine whether the major shareholder has the financial ability
to honour the financial support to the Group. We disclaim our
opinion in respect of the material uncertainty relating to the going
concern basis.

Share of loss of associates and investment in associates

We have not been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence to verify whether the Group's share of loss of associates
of approximately HK11,915,000 and HK$233,719,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, respectively, are fairly
stated. We were also not able to satisfy ourselves as to (i) whether
the carrying amount of investment in associates of approximately
HK$167,604,000 and HK$168,980,000 as at 31 December 2020
and 2019, respectively, are fairly stated; and (i) the accuracy of the
disclosures in relation to the investment in associates.
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Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

We have not been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence in relation to the fair value of approximately
HK$14,965,000 and HK$14,031,000 of an equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income as at 31
December 2020 and 2019, respectively, and the fair value loss of
approximately HK$8,664,000 of that equity investment for the
year ended 31 December 2019 are fairly stated.

In addition, as stated in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had an other receivable amount of
approximately HK$75,741,000 and HK$71,010,000 as at 31
December 2020 and 2019, respectively, resulting from the profits
guarantee arrangement which is secured by the equity interest
in the investment of the debtor. Since we have not been able to
obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence of the fair value
of such equity investment and the financial ability of the debtor,
we were unable to satisfy ourselves as to the recoverability of such
other receivable as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

Intangible assets

We have not been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence in relation to the carrying amount of intangible assets
of HK$nil as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 and the impairment
loss of approximately HK$62,555,000 for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Other receivables

We have not been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence in relation to the recoverability of other receivables of
approximately HK$50,781,000 and HK$15,615,000 as at 31
December 2020 and 2019 respectively. We were also not able
to satisfy ourselves as to the impairment loss on value-added tax
receivables of approximately HK$3,957,000 for the year ended 31
December 2020.
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Prepayment to a supplier

We were unable to obtain direct audit confirmation in relation to
the prepayment to a supplier and unable to obtain sufficient and
appropriate audit evidence to ascertain whether such prepayment
will be recovered. We were therefore not able to satisfy ourselves
as to (i) whether the carrying amount of the prepayment to a
supplier amounted to approximately HK$332,641,000 as at 31
December 2020 and 2019 are fairly stated; (i) the recoverability
of prepayment to a supplier of approximately HK$332,641,000
as at 31 December 2020 and 2019; and (iii) the existence and
completeness of the disclosures of contingent liabilities in relation
to the prepayment to the supplier.

Disposal of subsidiaries

We have not been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence to verify whether the Group’s loss on disposal of
subsidiaries of approximately HK$949,000 for the year ended 31
December 2020 is fairly stated. We were also not able to satisfy
ourselves as to the accuracy of the disclosures in relation to the
disposal of subsidiaries.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have
a significant consequential effect on the Group’s financial
performance for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019
and the financial positions of the Group as at 31 December 2020
and 2019, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.

Responsibilities of Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue
an auditor’s report. However, because of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we
were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
"Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fong Tak Ching

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P0O6353

Hong Kong, 31 May 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

reiRm /AR EMEE W@

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE - ZE - ZTF+ B =+—HILFE

T

2020 2019
Notes HKS 000 HK$'000
MisE FET FHET
Revenue A 8 21,825 16,342
Cost of sales 4 &5 Al A (21,649) (3,899)
Gross profit EH 176 12,443
Other income HA A 9 1,889 21,267
Distribution costs DA (158) (2,907)
Administrative expenses THMAX (89,930) (439,204)
Share of loss of associates LS AR 2 B8 (11,915) (233,719)
Loss from operations REESIE (99,938) (642,120)
Finance costs EE= YN 11 (853) (1,726)
Loss before tax PRI AR IR (100,791) (643,846)
Income tax expense PSRRI 12 = =
Loss for the year TEEEE 13 (100,791) (643,846)
Other comprehensive Hth2mEUW A~ (8518)
income/(loss):
Items that will not be reclassified to & E# 748215
profit or loss: ZIEE
Fair value changes of equity BAFESTAEMEEUA
investments at fair value through ~ ZRAKE 2 A FEESH
other comprehensive income - (3,602)
Items that may be reclassified to B FEE# 7 EE S m
profit or loss: ZIEH
Exchange differences on translating & /EINEFE 2 E R ZEE
foreign operations — Group —rEH 30,147 (20,001)
Exchange differences on translating &SN EFS 2 E R Z5E
foreign operations — Associates o k= L/N=] 10,540 (4,163)
Release of translation reserve upon & M B A B R
disposal of subsidiaries FRPRINE B 34 426 =
41,113 (24,164)
Other comprehensive income/ ZSEEHMMEH
(loss) for the year KA, (E518) 41,113 (27,766)
Total comprehensive loss FEEREEIRATE
for the year (59,678) (671,612)
Loss for the year attributable to: WA T A LG EEEE :
Owners of the Company KATHEEA (72,904) (644,022)
Non-controlling interests JEITEREHE (27,887) 176
(100,791) (643,846)
Total comprehensive loss UTFTATREESERE
for the year attributable to: EEEREEE
Owners of the Company KATHEEA (32,075) (671,229)
Non-controlling interests JEITREHE (27,603) (383)
(59,678) (671,612)
Loss per share BREE 16
Basic (cents per share) BEXR (&R (0.36) (3.16)
Diluted (cents per share) #E (ZR) (0.36) (3.16)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SRR NN

l\vT\
At 31 December 2020 R_E_EF+_A=+—H
2020 2019
Notes HK$ 000 HK$'000
B EE FER FET
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- R R E 17 8,967 35,722
Investment in associates REE AT K& 18 167,604 168,980
Equity investments at fair value BATEF ARMEE
through other comprehensive WAZBEAREE
income 19 14,965 14,031
191,536 218,733
Current assets REEE
Inventories =8 22 2,688 4,397
Prepayments, deposits and FETRR 12 e A FEUSGR
other receivables 23 481,013 477,738
Pledged bank deposits BIRRIRITER - 2,014
Bank and cash balances R1TRIRE 4 6R 24 35,398 8,860
519,099 493,009
Current liabilities RE&E
Trade and other payables BB ZRIBBREAMBEMNR 25 92,761 120,492
Loan from a shareholder —REZER 26 98,824 =
Lease liabilities HEAaE 27 10,620 13,605
202,205 134,097
Net current assets REEEFE 316,894 358,912
Non-current liabilities JEREAE
Lease liabilities HEAaE 27 632 10,169
NET ASSETS HEFE 507,798 567,476
Capital and reserves B R#E
Share capital [N 29 2,035,287 2,035,287
Reserves HHE 30(a) (1,529,154) (1,497,079)
Equity attributable to owners of AT EE ANEGER
the Company 506,133 538,208
Non-controlling interests JEVERR R 1,665 29,268
TOTAL EQUITY ES4REE 507,798 567,476

The consolidated financial statements on pages 82 to 155 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31
May 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Approved by:

R

Yeung Yung
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes |

B m

For the year ended 31 December 2020 EZE —

I\‘7|_\

E—E
—_—=< =

Attributable to owners of the Company

N Equity

/ \ \\Eln\

E—I—:H E—I—— HIEFE

FAFHE NS
Equity
Share-based investment Non-
Share Share  Translation payment Other  revaluation Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
MRMAE RERE
Bt RNEE REEE ZWERE  EMER EREEE RRBHR E (3210 4 4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAn TiEn TEn TEn TEn TEn FEn TAR TAR
At 1 January 2019 RZB-NE-B-H 2035287 2123214 (71,545 391,521 (23901)  (4665) (3,198483) 1209437 29611 1,239,048
Transfer of gain on disposal of equity investments B HER AT AEH2E
at fair value through other comprehensive income WA Z AR E 2 A ZRERA
to retained earnings - - - - - (5,485) 5,485 - - -
Expired of share options BRI - - - (9,998) = = 9,998 = =
Capital injection from non-controlling interests ~ JEERiERTE - - - - - - - - 40 40
Total comprehensive loss for the year KEEREGBEE - - (23,609) - - (3602)  (644022) (671,229 (383) (671,612
At 31 December 2019 RZB-hE+-A=+-A 2035287 213214 (95,1500 381523 23901)  (55743) (3821,02) 538,208 29,268 567,476
1 January 2020 RIBZZE-F-H 2,035,287 2,123214 (95,150) 381,523 (23,901) (55,743)  (3,827,022) 538,208 29,268 567,476
Expired of share options BREDE - - - (50,441) - S 50,441 S S S
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year KEERENA/ (BB £8 - - 40829 - - - (72,904) (32,075) (27,603) (59,678)
At 31 December 2020 R-B-EE+-A=+-H 2035287 2123214 (54321) 331,082 23901)  (5743) (3849485 506,133 1,665 507,798

EEEEMBMRAR —T_TEFR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
I\\/_I_\ Iﬁi/}ﬁ%%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

2020 2019
—EEF —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHT
Cash flows from operating activities (EEFHZIREHE
Loss before tax FRF AT ES 18 (100,791) (643,846)
Adjustments for: B NAIEEFH 2 R
Share of loss of associates FEIEHE R BB 18 11,915 233,719
Interest income B2 (22) (40)
Finance costs L& A A 853 1,726
Depreciation of property, ME -BEREBEITE
plant and equipment 12,022 18,417
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREEITE 217 15,568
Fair value gain on derivative TEEmIE AT ER T
financial instrument - (18,737)
Impairment of intangible assets mILEEZRIE - 62,555
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEEZRIE 1,083 23,223
Impairment of value-added tax FEWUIE B RE
receivables 3,957 -
Research & development expenses A RsE 1,607 208,769
Gain on disposal of equity investment HEZATESAREMEE
at fair value through other WA ZRBRAKLE 2 W
comprehensive income = (4,814)
Property, plant and equipment EHEYZE BB K& E
written off 8,070 -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBABZ KA 949 -
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEYE - BEMRE
plant and equipment pd <t VAC &) 555 (1,105)
Operating loss before working EEETEIE KB EE
capital changes (59,585) (104,565)
Change in inventories FEEE) 1,709 7,843
Change in trade receivables FE B S IBEH) — 790
Change in other receivables, Hh W 12 &
deposits and prepayments TATREH (16,089) 5,654
Change in accruals and other payables FESTE B R HAEN R ES) (20,470) 59,322
Cash used in operations SEAERES (94,435) (30,956)
Tax paid BENRIE - >
Net cash used in operating activities  (&& ZEIFFAIRE BEE (94,435) (30,956)

86 Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
fﬁi /)lLE%
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HIE —& —

—_—= ==

BFE+_RB=+—HLEFE

2020 2019
—EEF S — N4
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FET
Cash flows from investing activities R EEHZIRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB Y13 E &% HE (3,056) (14,079)
Proceeds from disposal of equity HERATEFAEMEE
investment at fair value through other WA Z AR EFTRRIE
comprehensive income - 18,014
Interest received BIHE 22 40
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE -BEKZE
plant and equipment FRSFIE 755 15,839
Capital injection to a subsidiary from IR R — M E AT
non-controlling shareholders AE - 40
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits IR BIRIRRITER 2,014 =
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEBRRRITER - (7)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HENBRABMELZ
of subsidiaries REeERLE 3 (534) =
Net cash (used in)/generated from 19558 (FRA) FR18
investing activities REFEE (799) 19,847
Cash flows from financing activities RIE EHZ2IRERE
Loan from a shareholder —ZREZER 179,852 =
Repayment for loan from a shareholder BE—ZREZER (81,028) =
Interest paid BNFE (853) (1,726)
Repayment for lease liabilities BiEREaE (13,822) (14,914)
Net cash generated from/(used in) RL¥EENFRTS (FRA)
financing activities REFEHE 84,149 (16,640)
Net decrease in cash and HERREEEMZRHLBEE
cash equivalents (11,085) (27,749)
Cash and cash equivalents at REVNZRERIREEEY
beginning of year 8,860 45,815
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate 9N PE R B8~ FL £ 37,623 (9,206)
Cash and cash equivalents at RERZRERREZFEY
end of year 35,398 8,860
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents R&RIRSLEEWD R
Bank and cash balances IR1TRIRE 4R 35,398 8,860

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e ERRMYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited was incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability. The address
of its registered office is Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda. The address of
its principal place of business is Suites 1407-8, 14th Floor,
Great Eagle Centre, 23 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong. The Company'’s shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the "Group”) were development
of high-tech electric motor vehicles, development and
sales of battery management systems and spare parts and
development of advanced batteries materials. The principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of HK$100,791,000 and
operating cash outflow of HK$94,435,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2020. These conditions indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Therefore, the Group may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
upon the financial support of the major shareholder, at a
level sufficient to finance the working capital requirements
of the Group. The major shareholder has agreed to provide
adequate funds for the Group to meet its liabilities as they
fall due. The directors are therefore of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to
continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be
made to the consolidated financial statements to adjust the
value of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets
and liabilities, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RaRMYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ —ZE-"ZF+"_F=+—HIFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants that are relevant to its operations and
effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 January
2020. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised
HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the Group’s
accounting policies, presentation of the Group's financial
statements and amounts reported for the current year and
prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
those new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position
to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income which is carried at its fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the
current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities
that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the
Company'’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= AL o =
TSR IR MIET
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiZE “ZE - F+"F=+—HILFE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. J|AEEHIEE (&)

(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered when
assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to
significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —E"ZF+"_HF=+—HILFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. F|EAEIE (4B)

4,

(Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and
is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as
goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of
the investment and is tested for impairment together with
the investment at the end of each reporting period when
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and
its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= AL o =
TSR IR MIET
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiZE “ZE - F+"F=+—HILFE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. J|AEEHIEE (&)

(Continued)

Associates (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
associate and (i) the Group's share of the net assets of
that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
associate and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues
to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —E"ZF+"_HF=+—HILFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. F|EAEIE (4B)

4,

(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements (Continued)
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

(c) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company's presentation currency are translated
into the Company'’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiZE “ZE - F+"F=+—HILFE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. J|AEEHIEE (&)

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvements,
fixtures and fittings

Over the expected useful lives
of 5 to 10 years or over the
term of lease, whichever is
shorter

Furniture and equipment 5 years

Machineries 5 to 10 years

Motor vehicles 4 to 10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and machinery pending installation,
and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation
begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BEXE®

(Continued)

Lease

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:
Land and buildings 33.3% - 50%
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or
less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. An internally
generated intangible asset arising from the Group's
development is recognised only if all of the following
conditions are met:

- An asset is created that can be identified (such as
software and new processes);

- It is probable that the asset created will generate
future economic benefits; and

- The development cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.

Intangible assets

Technical knowhow are classified as intangible assets.
Technical knowhow have an indefinite useful life and are
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The
technical knowhow have no foreseeable limit to the period
over which the Group can use to generate net cash flows.
The technical knowhow will not be amortised until their
useful lives are determined to be finite. Instead they will be
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

The useful life of the technical knowhow is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is account for on a
prospective basis.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion
of all production overhead expenditure, and where
appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BEXE®

(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

- Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income;

(i)  Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of
the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BEXE®

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income
On initial recognition, the Group can make an
irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument
basis) to designate investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading as at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are subsequently measured at
fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair values recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the equity investment revaluation
reserve. On derecognition of an investment, the
cumulative gains or losses previously accumulated
in the equity investment revaluation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in
profit or loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit
losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the
respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”)
for trade receivables and lease receivables, or if the credit
risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020

sHEUER (4%)

THEE @)

(i) BAFEFAAMZEUAZ
BRERE
PR 2 b S0 o A S B BT BAAS BT
et (@R TEEE) EES
EUXFFIFEEZRATAERE
HRAFESAEMEERA

BATEFSAREMEERAZR
TREEBRBATEFE MA
TESFEL 2 WnREBEEIE
thE2EBRARESE TRREAKE
BB RE - RBUNRESE—
ERER MERREKRESE MG
EEPRRZ R NEES
SEMOBERT

BRIERSEREZREBBERRIK
EE DR E A BRI Em R

FRo

FLIRRR(E BRI AR
FEBRRBENLFEZEHEE
ZHREEEEREEERBIE - R
FEBEAMARENRRINZZM
RFIEEaEER-

FLIE W B 5 IR R B W R E IR
S UMEEERIAZEERRE
ML HERBLUREE L7t AIAEBR
BREHREESFRFAA R ENZE
TR TARRFHRNERZENSEMH
FREEZFAREEREERE ((RAFE
HIEEHR) StEZRERMITAER
BILZ S8 o
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. J|AEEHIEE (&)

(Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(Continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at
an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit
losses that represents the expected credit losses that result
from default events on that financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to
an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BEXE®

(Continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. J|AEEHIEE (&)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance;

- the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

- the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.

Other income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.
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4,

(Continued)

Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the end
of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged in profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(c) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group
receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BEXE®

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and its joint ventures, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(a)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

0

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if
any of the following conditions applies:

0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BEXE®

(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if
any of the following conditions applies: (Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
productions processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. J|AEEHIEE (&)

(Continued)

Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet
available for use are reviewed annually for impairment and
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets other
than investments, inventories and receivables, to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. J|AEEHIEE (&)

(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and
are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5.

ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

(a) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of
which depends upon the financial support of the
major shareholder at a level sufficient to finance the
working capital requirements of the Group. Details
are explained in note 2 to consolidated financial
statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of the trade and other receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise
where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the trade
and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in
the year in which such estimate has been changed.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5.

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(©

Impairment of investment in associates

Interest in associates are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Value-in-use calculations are used for assessing
the recoverable amount of these interests. These
calculations require use of judgments and estimates.

Management judgment is required for assessing
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an
event has occurred that may indicate that the related
carrying value of interests may not be recoverable;
and (i) whether the carrying value of the interests can
be supported by the recoverable amount. Changing
the estimations used by management in assessing
impairment could materially affect the recoverable
amount used in the impairment test and as a result
affect the Group's consolidated financial position and
consolidated results of operations. At the end of the
reporting period, the carrying value of investment in
associates was approximately HK$167,604,000 (2019:
HK$168,980,000).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for
the Group's property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives and residual values are different to those
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5.
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined with reference
to the present value of estimated future cash flows.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected or
there are unfavourable events and change in facts and
circumstance which result in revision of future estimate
cash flows, a material impairment loss may arise.

(e) Impairment of intangible assets
The management of the Company assesses the
possible impairment of the Group’s intangible assets
at end of each reporting period. At the end of the
reporting period, the carrying value of intangible
assets of HK$nil (2019: HK$nil). Approximately of
HK$62,555,000 impairment loss has been recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2019. This situation
will be closely monitored, and adjustments made in
future periods, if future market activity indicates that
such adjustments are appropriate.

(f)  Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based
on the ageing and estimated net realisable value of
inventories. The assessment of the allowance amount
involves judgement and estimates. Where the actual
outcome in future is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value
of inventories and allowance charge/write-back in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group's overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Hong Kong dollars and United States
dollars and Renminbi. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities.
The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

The functional currency of certain major subsidiaries
of the Group is RMB. The Group is mainly exposed to
currency risk between RMB and USD.

At 31 December 2020, if the RMB had weakened 5
per cent (2019: 5 per cent) against the US dollar with
all other variables held constant, consolidated loss
after tax for the year would have been HK$709,700
(2019: HK$544,300) higher, arising mainly as a
result of the foreign exchange loss on monetary
items denominated in US dollar. If the RMB had
strengthened 5 per cent (2019: 5 per cent) against
the US dollar with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss after tax for the year would have
been HK$709,700 (2019: HK$544,300) lower, arising
mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain on
monetary items denominated in US dollar.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HEREEIE (&)
(Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances,
trade and other receivables, investments and derivative
financial instruments included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group's financial assets.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history. The credit risk on bank and cash balances is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period
by comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially
the following information is used:

- internal credit rating;

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

- significant changes in the value of the collateral
or in the quality of guarantees or credit
enhancements; and

- significant changes in the expected performance

and behaviour of the borrower, including
changes in the payment status of borrowers.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HEREMBEE (@)
(Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERR (@&
A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a HMEBAZENNRAIHEE
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a 30K AIBEEERRBEE L
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset FoBHFHARENIEBOXK
is when the counterparty fails to make contractual AEHENNTRE SREERD
payments within 60 days of when they fall due. HEMN-
Financial assets are written off when there is no EENElr 5IEAY (FIMER
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor ARBEAARERBET I EMETE)
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. FrAEBRSMEEMEE X
The Group normally categorises a loan or receivable ER—RNEFAEEBIE360
for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual KMAEERENARET BB
payments greater than 360 days past due. Where TR FE U R B A EE 4R o I B R
loans or receivables have been written off, the Group, BT B e > BI AR E B R R
if practicable and economical, continues to engage BREREE ERT 2B R THEE
in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the ETREINITES > RAOWEE
receivable due. HAFE R ©
The Group uses two categories for non-trade loan rEBEFEEMEFEZRKE
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how FOUDARMEEN ZEER
the loan loss provision is determined for each of the E R MAMSENEEEME
categories. In calculating the expected credit loss BEE - RAERAGEHREX
rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each FrAEREEESENZESL
category and adjusts for forward looking data. 1518 0 T A B M BURE AR
o

Category Definition Loss provision g/ T HiRRE
Performing Low risk of default 12 month expected BHF EHNERER 1288

and strong capacity losses IRENE HHEE

to pay
Non-performing ~ Significant increase in -~ Lifetime expected losses TEH FERK LHIREER

credit risk BE LA
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HIZE —ZT-ZEF+"HA=+—HILFE

ANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HEEMBEIR (B
(Continued)

6. FIN

(b)

(9

Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERR (&)
Total
st
2020 2019
—EZERE “E-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx FET
Other loans receivables HihEWRER 83,908 90,816
Provision for loss allowance EEEREE (77,710) (77,710)
Carrying amounts IREE%E 6,198 13,106
Expected credit loss rate TEHAE BR1EE
2020 TETEEF 93%
2019 —ZT—hnF 86%
Loss allowance at RN_E_EF—HF—HK
1 January 2020 and ZEIEF+TR
31 December 2020 —t+—HZEERR (77,710)
Liquidity risk (0 RBEZER

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E =

AR

PSRRI EE

TECRES+"A=+—HLEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HEREMBEE (@)
(Continued)

(0

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
The maturity analysis of the Group's financial liabilities
is as follows:

(0

llllﬁﬁéﬂﬁ (I\E)
rEETRMEEZIRBERDN
mE:

Total
contractual
undiscounted
Carrying cash flow
amount within 1 year
—FRZEN
RASRRE
IREEEE MR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TFAET
At 31 December 2020 ZEEHF
+_H =+—H
Trade and other payables FEN B ZRIE R
HAMFE R 92,761 92,761
Loan from a shareholder —ZRBEZER 98,824 98,824
191,585 191,585
At 31 December 2019 RIF—NEF
+ZB=+—H
Trade and other payables FEN B ZIE R
HAFE R 120,492 120,492

Interest rate risk

At 31 December 2020, as the Group has minimal
exposure to interest rate risk, the Group's operating
cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates.

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

(d) FIERRER

(e)

e e R =
B 2 & [ 3 2 A KRR i
B BEEBMZEERSRAR
it WAREZEIES Fik

AT
AR RTRRAEEZ
THEERTREEZIRATER
HzEHAEBZATERS

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BFEREER (4B)

6.

(Continued)

(f) Categories of financial instruments at 31

) R+ZB=+—HzZH

December T E%ER
2020 2019
—ECEE —E-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET
Financial assets EHEE
Financial assets at amortised BN E Y
cost (including cash and cash THEE (BERSK
equivalents) BEEEY) 171,052 147,652
Equity investments at BATESAREMEE
fair value through other WA ZBRATE
comprehensive income 14,965 14,031
Financial liabilities ERIEE
Financial liabilities at BEIEN AT 2
amortised cost By =k 191,585 120,492
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS ATHFHAE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categories into three levels the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

Level 2 inputs:

Level 3 inputs:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly.

unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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AR E R ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ —ZE-"ZF+"_F=+—HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7.

[FEEE (@)

(Continued)
(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 (a9 MIEBEIZEHF+"HA=+—HZ
December 2020: NEEERILE :
Fair value measurements using: Total
FERUTEEZATEHE: aE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020
B4 gt BZH ZF-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET TERT TERT THT
Description it
Recurring fair value REMATENE !
measurements:
Equity investments at fair value BATESAHMZE
through other comprehensive BMAZBRAERE
income
— Unlisted equity securities —JELTRARES - - 14,965 14,965
Total recurring fair value REUATEHNELSE
measurements - - 14,965 14,965
Fair value measurements using: Total
FERAUTEEZ ATEHE . ez
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2019
£k FR F=Hh ZF-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TERT
Description i
Recurring fair value CEMATEHE:
measurements:
Equity investments at fair value BATES AHMZE
through other comprehensive WAz BEBE
income
— Unlisted equity securities —JF EmlRAES - - 14,031 14,031
Total recurring fair value REMATENERE
measurements - - 14,031 14,031

HAR S5 — RIS — iR 2 L
EHR TEEE=REBANED
CE-NEF 8 FEEZH
RASNBEEBB 2 REMEHRR
ERATEERE B -

During the period, there were no transfer between
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3
(2019: Nil). The Group's policy is to recognise transfer
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of
the reporting period in which they occur.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

ATEIE @)

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7.

(Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based
on level 3:

(b)

ERE=MRzEEATEFEH
AR

Equity investments at
fair value through other
comprehensive income

BAFEAAHMBEKRA
2R E
2020 2019
—EEE “E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T T
Description g
At 1 January t—H—H 14,031 22,996
Total losses recognised in other REAM 2 E U A RS
comprehensive income 2 E51E 48R = (8,664)
Exchange difference bR Z=RE 934 (301)
At 31 December R+—B=+—H 14,965 14,031

The total gains or losses recognised in other
comprehensive income are presented in fair value
changes of equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2020:

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuations.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e TSI R MY EE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiZE “ZE - F+"F=+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. 2FE:HE @B
(Continued)

() (Continued) (o &)
Level 3 fair value measurements BZRATEFE
Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value Fair value
Description technique inputs Range for increase of inputs 2020
BAEE IS ZBI%E
fi &R FORREARE ®E ATEZHE LTE
HK$'000
TER
Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
BRATEHALMRERAZREFRE
Unlisted equity securities ~ Market approach Market Capitalisation  Market Capitalization of Increase 14,965
- Guideline Publicly- Multiples Common Stock from
traded Comparable CNY2,002 to CNY7,746
Method
FEEmRAES ko3 hiEfE EBRHENT b=)il
—HRABEETE ARE2000E
LA AR, 7467
Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value Fair value
Description technique inputs Range for increase of inputs 2019
BAEE IS E-hE
Hit fhER FURREARE #E ATEZEE RTE
HK$'000
TEn
Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
BATEAARM2ARAZRERE
Unlisted equity securities ~ Market approach Market Capitalisation - Market Capitalization of Increase 14,031
- Guideline Publicly- Multiples Common Stock from
traded Comparable CNY2,002 to CNY7,746
Method
FEEmRAHES k)3 TEBY EBRTENT =il
—ERAKEENE AR®2,0027tE
L&A ARE7, 74670
8. REVENUE 8. WA
The Group's revenue represents sales and service income of AEBZIWABBENEERERAKRESR
battery management systems and spare parts. B HE B RBFUA -
2020 2019
ZEZEHE —E—hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Sales and service income of battery EMEIRRKKRERBEH
management systems and spare & RE M IR ULA
parts 21,825 16,342

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER
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SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

8.

REVENUE (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers:

8. WA (&)

REEREGNZWARD

2020 2019
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
F#T FHET
Geographical markets MEHS
PRC ik 21,825 16,342
Major products/service FTEER R
Sales and service income of battery BHMEIR R MIEE)
management system and lithium 4 & RE A AR TS WA
batteries 21,825 16,342
Timing of revenue recognition WA FEs2EFRY
At a point in time NE—RRE2, 21,825 16,342

Sales and service income of battery management
systems and spare parts

The Group sells battery management systems and spare
parts to the customers. Sales are recognised when control
of the products has transferred, being when the products
are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products
and the customer has obtained legal titles to the products.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
to the customers as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms
of 30 to 90 days. For new customers, deposits or cash on
delivery may be required. Deposits received are recognised as
a contract liability.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020

BEhEERMAEREHHEE
R ARFEURA
FEEREFHEENEERA NG
mEftr - AERRERZEFEER
BERXMER -BERETE
FRRERFEMELREZRELRE
EmZEEmAEREDHER

FWZEREELRNERFES &
AU THCE R 2 | AR~ IR RVIE EI R
BT R R R 2 BRF R 2 o

AEE-RUFFHERMI0EI0OX
ZIEEH -HEPAERBRNREN
BRI BRRERID/EHNERE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10.

AR E R ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ —ZE-"ZF+"_F=+—HIFE

OTHER INCOME

9. HfthlzA

2020 2019
—ECEHE “—E—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Interest income ) B U A 22 40
Fair value gain on derivative TEEmI Az A FEWRZ

financial instrument - 18,737
Government grants BT BN 914 -
Others Hh 953 2,490
1,889 21,267

SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. PEPEHE

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products. They are managed separately
because each business requires different technology and
marketing strategies. The Group has three reportable
segments: development of high-tech electric motor vehicles,
development and sales of battery management systems
and spare parts and development of advanced batteries
materials.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not
include unallocated corporate income and expenses.
Segment assets do not include unallocated corporate assets.
Segment liabilities do not include unallocated corporate
liabilities. Segment non-current assets do not include
financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment
benefit assets and rights arising under insurance contracts.

rEBZAZRDEIERETEER
ZERBEIEEFS B AL o B ISP BB AT
MG EERBESBERR  WEEHR
BUEE AEBAE=EJ2HKIEL:
MESHREE HENBEEE)
BERREREHAKRMBELES
AR o

EEOBZEFHRAGSYHRE
Py sEAFT L E AR R © 3 BRI A S B A
BREARDEEERZ -DHBEETE
BRDEARNEE - DHEARIERE
ROEABEB - NEFERBEES
BEEMIAEVRERBEEE BB
BENEERRBRIEGNEEZE
o
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SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

10. DEEHE @&

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets

BERAPERNEEN NEE - BEEH

and liabilities: aBEzER
High-tech Battery
electric  management Advanced
motor systems and batteries
vehicles spare parts materials Total
R ENEERAR
EgE kiEmEE RESHMY 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET FHET
Year ended 31 December 2020: HE_ZT-ZHE
+ZA=+—HLEE:
Revenue A - 21,825 - 21,825
Segment loss DR (25,728) (3,332) (168) (29,228)
Depreciation wE (6,397) (363) 2) (6,762)
Other material non-cash items: HtEAFREER !
Research and development RS
expenses (1,132) 8) (79) (1,219)
Additions to segment REDHWIERBEE
non-current assets 13 = = 13
At 31 December 2020: RZE-EEF
+ZA=+-H:
Segment assets NEEE 434,690 28,599 2,242 465,531
Segment liabilities NHEE 7,109 24,428 4 31,541
Year ended 31 December 2019: BE_Z—hE
+ZA=+—HLEE:
Revenue WA - 16,242 100 16,342
Segment loss HEEE (232,951) (11,362) (979) (245,292)
Depreciation nE (7,563) (1,505) (12) (9,080)
Other material non-cash items: HtBAFRLEE
Research and development RS
expenses (207,331) (868) (570) (208,769)
Additions to segment REDHWIERTEE
non-current assets 13,191 859 - 14,050
At 31 December 2019: ZE—hE&E
+ZB=+-H:
Segment assets NHEE 464,842 25,696 2,237 492,775
Segment liabilities == 6,734 9,399 164 16,297
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 EZE —

AR E R ERARMIEE

THE+-AS+—BULEE

= —

—_—= ==

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. PEEHE (@)
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit and AIEMDIRA S EN REIE - BEH
loss, assets and liabilities: BEHE:
2020 2019
HK$ 000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Revenue: WA :
Total revenue of reportable AI2®DBWA KL S
segments and consolidated O L
revenue 21,825 16,342
Profit or loss: EFIERESE -
Total loss of reportable segments A2} DB E5IEMEER (29,228) (245,292)
Corporate and unallocated NCIVE ) @B/M%UJZEHTE
profit or loss (71,563) (398,554)
Consolidated loss for the year KEEIFEEEIE (100,791) (643,846)
Assets: B5E:
Total assets of reportable segments  B] 2K D EE EALE 465,531 492,775
Corporate and unallocated assets: AR &ADEE
— Equity investments at —BRTE quJ\ﬁT’@%ﬁ
fair value through other WAZBAKE
comprehensive income 14,965 14,031
— Bank and cash balances —AREEREEE ZRT
held by the Group's FIRE 4R
headquarters 17,397 927
— Others —HAth 212,742 204,009
Consolidated total assets SOBEEAEE 710,635 711,742
Liabilities: aE:
Total liabilities of reportable A2 DI aERE
segments 31,541 16,297
Corporate and unallocated liabilities ‘A& &k Ee & &
— Others —HAth 171,296 127,969
Consolidated total liabilities e B E4ERE 202,837 144,266
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R E R ERAR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HIZE —ZT-ZEF+"HA=+—HILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. P EEFE (&)
Geographical information: bz 1] A=
2020 2019
=t L
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Revenue: WA :
The People’s Republic of China R NRIFE (TRE))
(the “"PRC") 21,825 16,342

In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based
on the location of the customers.

SEHMEBERE AT UE R
M 7 E G o

Revenue from major customers: FEXRWA
2020 2019
—ECEE —E-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHT
Customer A ZERH 19,985 Nil %
Customer B ERZ Nil #& 14,783

Revenue from above customers individually contributed
more than 10% of the total consolidated revenue of the

KB LME RS Z WA E R A E B4R
HUTALBEE10% L Eo

Group.

2020 2019
—ECEE —E-hE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET

Non-current assets (other than  JERENEE

financial assets): (FEEFEMEE) .

United States of America ENRETE - 2,090
The PRC =8 176,093 166,810
Hong Kong and others BB R HAn 478 35,802
176,571 204,702
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11.

12.

AR E R ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ —ZE-"ZF+"_F=+—HIFE

FINANCE COSTS 1. B
2020 2019
—E-EH “E—hEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Lease interests HEME 853 1,726
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FRSMS
2020 2019
—ECEH “E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#Ex FHET
Current tax BEAFRIE
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —hE R EFRER
Provision for the year REERE - =

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
for the year as the Group did not generate any assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong (2019: nil).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
product of loss before tax multiplied by Hong Kong Profits

Tax rate is as follows:

AR AEEETE BT EEEEMFER
Mg A UL FE AL EE BN SR
EHBE C2Z—hF | o

HthE RN EH 2 REZHHE
RAEBKEXBAERRZITITE
B RERER REBTRERFE

PR M 2 BRI AT RS 1B SR U T A A
SRMEMGZRBERNT ¢

2020 2019

—ECESH ZE—hEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TFET

Loss before tax PRI BIES 18 (100,791) (643,846)

Tax on loss before income tax, REMRBEEAEGREAR

calculated at the rates applicable wA R REE
to profit/loss in the tax FRPTISMAIEIE 2R IE

jurisdictions concerned (22,141) (115,130)

Tax effect of non-taxable income BAEZFRBAZRBZE (151) (4,684)
Tax effect of non-deductible AR ALZ 2 RBETE

expenses 22,292 119,814

Income tax expense for the year

AEEPTSIRAX

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following:

13. EEEE

AEBZAFEBADLRDOR G
A) THIRBRBER

2020 2019
—EIEE “EF-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMEN & 1,400 1,400
Cost of inventories sold BEEEFEEMAK 21,649 3,899
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERREITE
plant and equipment 12,022 18,417
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RS EITE 217 15,568
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEYIHE -MEKSRHEZ
plant and equipment &8, (W) 555 (1,105)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB Az E1E
(Note 34) (MI5E34) 949 -
Property, plant and equipment EMEYE BB K& E
written off 8,070 -
Impairment of right-of-use assets FEREESEZRE 1,083 23,223
Impairment of intangible assets mILEEZRIE - 62,555
Impairment of value-added tax FE IS B RE
receivables 3,957 =
Fair value gain of derivative TEEmI Az AT ERZE
financial instrument - (18,737)
Net exchange loss PE 2 518 /3 48 339 912
Research and development costs R EE A 1,607 208,769
Staff costs including directors’ BTHA (BIEESIE)
emoluments
— Salaries, bonus and allowances — i EAL RoRRG 24,697 82,831
— Retirement benefits scheme —RARBHF B
contributions 1,310 4,516
26,007 87,347
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AR e B TSR MY EE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 & F+ZA=+—HLEHFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES'

=—Em—®

*x <<

14. EERESME

EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of each director were as follows: EEEZMEA
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
BhER
e HEREN SHEI{HER ek
2020 Notes HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ZEIEE figst TER TET TERT TERT
Executive Directors: WITESR:
Dr. Yeung Yung gL 78 581 - 659
Mr. Feng Rui BHRE (@) 78 1,620 - 1,698
Mr. Liu Stephen Quan AREE 80 - = 80
Dr. Zhu Shengliang KBREL 80 36 121
Dr. Wang Chuantao T)IEEL 78 - - 78
Dr. Huang Chunhua BEERLT (b) 78 - = 78
Mr. Li Zhengshan FELERE 80 64 28 172
Mr. Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny TE#fEE 80 1,001 18 1,099
Mr. Chen Xiao BREERE 80 56 29 165
Non-executive Director: FEHITES:
Dr. Xia Tingkang, Tim SiEEEL 310 - - 310
Independent Non-Executive BUEHTES:
Directors:
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace THEMEE 160 - - 160
Mr. Cheng Tat Wa B s 160 - - 160
Dr. Zhu Guobin KEGEEL 312 - - 312
Dr. Li Jianyong FRERL 160 - - 160
Mr. Chan Sin Hang BEHLE 160 - - 160
1,974 3,358 80 5,412
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R E R ERAR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

14. EERESHE (&)

14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Retirement
Salaries benefits
and scheme
Fees allowances  contributions Total
RIKER
wE  HEkEH BE IS ek
2019 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
“E-hE KisE TAET TAET AT FTAT
Executive Directors: HTES !
Dr. Yeung Yung MEEL 156 1,175 = 1,331
Mr. Liu Stephen Quan AREE 160 1,001 15 1,176
Mr. Hui Wing Sang,Wilson FKERE (© 107 1,111 12 1,230
Dr. Zhu Shengliang KBREL 160 488 = 648
Dr. Wang Chuantao FIEEL 157 130 = 287
Dr. Huang Chunhua BEERL 156 130 = 286
Mr. Xu Jianguo RERLE (d) 91 504 1 606
Mr. Li Zhengshan FEWRE 160 1,174 18 1,352
Mr. Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny TEgEE 160 1,560 18 1,738
Mr. Chen Xiao BRERE 160 1,173 18 1,351
Non-executive Director: ERITEE:
Dr. Xia Tingkang, Tim EiZpEt 313 - - 313
Independent Non-Executive BiEHTES:
Directors:
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace IR 160 = = 160
Dr. Song Jian REEL () 334 - = 334
Mr. Cheng Tat Wa WEERL 160 = = 160
Dr. Zhu Guobin KEDRIEL 312 - - 312
Dr. Li Jianyong EX=E Ch 160 - - 160
Mr. Chan Sin Hang BREHLLE 160 - - 160
3,066 8,446 92 11,604

(@  Appointed on 1 January 2020.

(b)  Resigned on 27 December 2020.

(c)  Resigned on 2 September 2019.

(d)  Resigned on 1 August 2019.

(e) Resigned on 31 December 2019.
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14. DIRECTORS'

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE - ZE - ZTF+ B =+—HILFE

14. ESRESME (&)

AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the year included three (2019: five) directors, whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis above.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the directors or the highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

FRAEBRLURSHALTERE=%
TE-NAF R EF O REZM
TEIR LT DT RBR

FRAEBRTERERNESFHAEQ
B AT AEAME  (FRRSI
AN 72 B B0 A 0 A 2 55 B B 2 22
S RERARE o

15. DIVIDENDS 15. RS2
The directors do not recommend or declare the payment EEZUERBE_ZE R
of any dividend in respect of the years ended 31 December —hWEF+A=+—HLEFEES /Jf?
2020 and 2019. ERNBIRKMEMRE

16. LOSS PER SHARE 16. BIRES1E

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the loss
for year attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$72,904,000 (2019:
HK$644,022,000) and the weighted average number
of 20,352,873,000 (2019: 20,352,873,000) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share
The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-
dilutive for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019.

(a) EBREXEIE

ABEE ANELEREREE
TBEREAABEE ANEGARE
EE184972,904,00058 7T (Z 2
— ML © 644,022,000 7T) KE
ANEEITEBERINEFHERE
20,352,873,0008% (Z&—N.5F :
20,352,873,0008%) 5+& o

(b) =SREEEE
HE_Z " Z2F+_"_A=1+—H
RZE-AE+ZB=+—HL
FE FBEBREZERHARR
BEsEo

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER
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SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

17. ME - -BERRE

17.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
improvements, Furniture
fixtures and and Motor  Construction
fittings  equipment  Machineries vehicles  in progress Total
HEnE
R EE
RERES# GRREE 5 HE EEIR hy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FER FER FER TR TR
Cost K%
At 1 January 2019 RZF-NE-B—-H 43,996 31,7 16,548 68,858 9,335 170,448
Additions hE 12,616 49 - - 1414 14,079
Transfer ' 9335 - - - (9,335) -
Disposals HE (4,245) (3,023) (1,577) (25,540) - (34,385)
Exchange differences ERESR 93 1773 1,487 2,000 = 6,223
At 31 December 2019 and RIB-NE+ZA=+-1H
1 January 2020 RZEZZF-F-H 62,665 30,510 16,458 45318 1414 156,365
Additions HE 2,715 13 - - 328 3,056
Transfer el 1,415 = = = (1,415) =
Disposals HE (2,035) (242) - (1,193) - (3.470)
Written off s (23,254) - - - - (23,254)
Exchange differences ERER 986 1,791 1,341 1,801 137 6,056
At 31 December 2020 RIFZEE+ZA=+-H 42,492 32,072 17,799 45,926 464 138,753
Accumulated depreciation  EHFERIE(E
and impairment
At 1 January 2019 RZIB-N&—F-H 25,065 23892 7360 56,029 - 112,346
Charge for the year EENR 10,828 3,627 864 3,098 - 18417
Disposals HE - (1,555) (410) (17,686) = (19,651)
Exchange differences ERESR 3,464 2,356 2,135 1,576 - 9,531
At 31 December 2019 and RIB-NE+ZA=+-1H
1 January 2020 RZE"EF-A-H 39,357 28320 9,949 43,017 - 120,643
Charge for the year REE 7,01 2,200 805 2,006 = 12,022
Disposals HE (1,075) (132) = (953) = (2,160)
Written off s (15,184) - - - - (15,184)
Exchange differences ”#%ﬁ 6,427 1,525 4,757 1,756 = 14,465
At 31 December 2020 “ZCZE+°A=1-H 36,536 31913 15,511 45,826 - 129,786
Carrying amounts Eﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
At 31 December 2020 RIFZEE+ZA=+-H 5,956 159 2,288 100 464 8,967
At 31 December 2019 RZF-hE+ZA=+-H 23308 2190 6,509 2,301 1,414 35,722

As at 31 December 2020, the Group engaged an
independent valuer to determine the fair value of the
property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2020
(the “Fair Value”). In assessing whether impairment
is required for the property, plant and equipment, the
carrying value is compared with the respective recoverable
amount. The Fair Value was determined using the market
approach. The recoverable amount used in assessing the
impairment loss is the fair value less costs of disposal with
reference to the Fair Value. The fair value was under level
3 fair value measurement. After impairment assessment by
the management, impairment loss of approximately HK$nil
(2019: HK$nil) was recognised.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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An e MR M 5T
F+A=+-HLEE
18. REFEARZIRE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HHEE —E_—F

18. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

2020 2019
—EIEHE —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FHET

Unlisted investment: JELHIRE :
Share of net assets RSB EFE 167,604 168,980
Details of the Group's associates at 31 December 2020 and RIEZE2FRIZE—AFEFTIA

2019 are as follows:

=t+—HB FxEEBEQTZFEN

T
Place of Percentage of the
incorporation/ Company'’s indirect Principal
Name registration ownership interest activities
B3 AT TATFRIGRE
218 o 3t 25 BERRZZEAL TERH
2020 2019
“EIBE ENF
FIERARENERAR The PRC 16.7% 16.7%  Environmental automobile and
Shenzhen SUSTC Fuel Cell s related business, the PRC
Company Limited* BRAEREEER PE
BERREBIENERAT The PRC 18% 18%  Manufacturing and
Ningbo Joint Venture* s sales of batteries
SERHEBM
g For identification purpose only * EHHR

The above associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

LHBE AT N GEMBRERARA
A AR

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER
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18. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

— ==

—_—= =

Set as below are the summarised financial information of the
associates which is accounted for using equity method.

F+ZA=+—HLEFE
18. REEQT ZIRE (@)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RATS R AR M 5L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 &

TXHEINFAEDEARZBE AT
ZHBENRE-

Shenzhen SUSTC Fuel Cell

Ningbo Joint Venture Company Limited
BRRREBNENERAR FERREENERAR
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZEZEE  “F-AE  ZECRE oA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET FERT TET
At 31 December: w+=-B=+-H:
Non-current assets FERBEE 383,566 393,673 = =
Current assets BB E 569,704 525,822 27,345 45,580
Non-current liabilities ErRsas - = (25,894) (23,996)
Current liabilities mEaE (22,846) (27) (686) (734)
Net assets BEFE 930,424 919,468 765 20,850
Group's share of net assets ~ AEBEELFEE 167,476 165,504 128 3,476
Year ended 31 December:  HZE+ZA
=+—HLEEE:
Revenue WA - - - -
Loss for the year KEERHE (47,424) (1,298,437) (20,275) =
Other comprehensive loss Hitt2mE51E 58,378 (22,806) 189 (352)
Total comprehensive loss FEELERIEBEEE
for the year 10,954 (1,321,243) (20,086) (352)
Dividends received from BEWBEATDRE

associates

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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AR E R ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ —ZE-"ZF+"_F=+—HIFE

19. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

19. HLAFEFAHMZEUA

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Z2RAEE
INCOME
2020 2019
—E-EE —EhE
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#5T T
Unlisted equity securities JE LT AEE
EMERDEALERAT EMERDEALERAT 14,965 14,031

The above investments are intended to be held for the
medium to long-term. Designation of these investments
as equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income can avoid the volatility of the fair
value changes of these investments to the profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
entered into an agreement with an independent third party
to acquire the equity interest in EMERPEARESFIR
ANE) ("HMERE", together with its subsidiaries as the
“Meilai Group”) at a consideration of RMB60,000,000.
EMZEZK is incorporated in the PRC and is an unlisted
limited liability company established in the PRC under the
PRC Law, which does not have quoted market price in an
active market. The Group intends to hold the investment
for long-term capital appreciation and has no intention
to dispose of the investment in the near future. As at
31 December 2020, the Group holds 5% (2019: 5%) equity
interest in M EZE.

EHRBRERPRAFTA - BEZRFR
BERRATEFAREMEEBAZR
FREABERFREN BT Z AT
BESHHEFE R

RBEEZZE—XR"E+B=+—HL
FE AEERNR—XB/IUE=FF]IL
% IR E AR #60,000,0007T
WEEMERFPEAREBRLAD (IH
MEER CERNENBARSTEERK
/) 2 RE - EMERN P EM
BRIl IR EERNPEMNILE
—BIELTEREEAR  HRNER
MBLETIBIRE - AEBERITHEZ
RENERBEAFE BUERIE
HHEZREZERN RS2 F
+ZA=t+—HB AEEFAEEME
K25% (ZE—NEF 1 5%) Ko

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER

137



138

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

zl-\'l

JA\A AN

BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ZE_ZTF+_F E‘f‘—EIJJ:fEJ"EF

20.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 0. BZEE
Technical
knowhow
5 i R0 a8
HK$'000
FET
Cost 3%
At 1 January 2019, RZZ2—hF—A—H-
31 December 2019 and “2-NEF+TA=1+—HK
31 December 2020 “22E2F+-"A=+—H 62,555
Accumulated depreciation and B ERRE
impairment
At 1 January 2019 RZZ—hFE—HA—H =
Impairment A 62,555
At 31 December 2019, S _E-NE+A=+—8-
1 January 2020 and = = )
31 December 2020 “EEF+”"A=+—H 62,555
Carrying amount IRE=E
At 31 December 2019 and A ZE-NAF+ZA=1+—HK
31 December 2020 —_E-EF+_"A=+—H -
The title of technical knowhow is transferred from an RMHBZFAEEREE_ZE—NEF
associate to the Company after dissolution of the associate +ZB=+—H thEVZIK’AT—Fﬁ Hk

during the year ended 31 December 2019. The technical
knowhow has no foreseeable limit to the period over which
the Group can use to generate net cash flows. As a result,
the technical knowhow was considered by the management
of the Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is
expected to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The
technical knowhow will not be amortised until their useful
life are determined to be finite. Instead it will be tested for
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication

that it may be impaired.

The Group reviews the recoverable amount of the technical
knowhow. Approximately HK$62,555,000 impairment
loss has been recognised for the year ended 31 December
2019. The recoverable amount of the relevant assets has
been determined on the basis of their value in use using

iy o

AP REAR A A B HIRBUER

EATBRRARMEATNERTE
NS
EMEFRZARLEFARRR -
At AEEZ EBERRMAH# 2
ARFHAER RASRMAHTE
A ERAEMIREMAFE NP
RERRERBRA  RMAHTT

7 & B 0] o A B Al R A EE £ 3R

MR ENNHASERSERT
T—_I'/}EJZ

BRI -

AT

discounted cash flow method. The discount rate used is

15.5% for the year ended 31 December 2019 (level 3 fair

value measurements).

8)o
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AR E R ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ —ZE-"ZF+"_F=+—HIFE

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

21. FHESE

At 31 December: ®+=B=+—8:
2020 2019
—E-FHF —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Right-of-use assets FREEE
— Land and buildings — T g - -
The maturity analysis, based on BERRMBRREREZ
undiscounted cash flows, of rEBEEAEDH
the Group's lease liabilities is as DI
follows:
— Less than 1 year — D4 10,860 14,430
— Between 1 and 2 years —1E2%F 652 10,368
11,512 24,798
Year ended 31 December: BHE+-A=T—HLEFE:
Depreciation charge of FRAREES
right-of-use assets EZ W
— Land and buildings — T BT 217 15,568
Lease interests HER S 853 1,726
Expenses related to B EZMAY
short-term leases 7,350 4,696
Total cash outflow for leases MEZIRE ML 14,675 16,640
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFREEE 1,300 5,582
Cancellation of right-of-use assets ~ sFiHEAEEE = 7,473
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEEBE 1,083 23,223

rEEEELEIMRIBEFT - HER
BEEREIFEZE AT M
ERFZENEEREE EREES
BAREZERRGE A& E
MINEMZE AEEET AT BE
BEZHEF AEBCTEERAEE
EzrE£5E ) R AEERDRE
{BE518491,083,0007 7T ©

The Group leases various land and buildings. Lease
agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 3
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants and
the leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes. The Group assessed the recoverable amount of
right-of-use assets and approximately of HK$1,083,000
impairment loss has been recognised in the current year.
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AR e ERRMYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HIZE —ZT-ZEF+"HA=+—HILFE

22. INVENTORIES 22. 8§
2020 2019
—ECEH —s—h=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Raw materials A 1,278 3,162
Finished goods R m 1,355 1,184
Consumables THFES 55 51
2,688 4,397

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

23. FAIRR R H AR MR

RECEIVABLES
2020 2019
“EESF “EF—hE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx FET
Prepayment to a supplier BN — R HERmRIE 332,641 332,641
Prepayments to others A HEMA TRIE 12,718 8,319
Deposits and other receivables ¥ K E At E W R 127,764 131,285
Amounts due from directors FEUREE A 7,890 5,493
481,013 477,738

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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23.

24.

AR E R ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ —ZE-"ZF+"_F=+—HIFE

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, included in other receivables
mainly represents i) an approximately of HK$23,838,000
(2019: HK$23,000,000) are receivables from disposal
of investments in joint venture, i) an approximately of
HK$75,741,000 (2019: HK$71,010,000) are receivables
incurred from the profits guaranteed arrangement which
is secured by equity interest of the debtor, iii) other
loans receivables of approximately HK$6,198,000 (2019:
HK$13,106,000) carries interest rate at 4.35% to 6%
(2019: 4.35% to 6%) per annum, repayable within one
year and is secured by equity interest of the debtor, being
an unlisted limited liability company and its own shares of
a listed limited liability company, and guarantees provided
by the related parties of the debtor and iv) other receivables
to third parties approximately of HK$2,362,000 are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The
directors of the Company monitored the collectability of
these receivables closely with reference to their respective
current creditworthiness and repayment records. As at 31
December 2020, all these receivables were neither past due
nor impaired. The management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of these receivables as they
are considered fully recoverable.

Amounts due from directors are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

BANK AND CASH BALANCES

As at 31 December 2020, the bank and cash balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$6,159,000 (2019: approximately HK$880,155).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

23.

24.

Fa(TTR - 5 R H fthFE U =R
(&)

RS -_EFE+_-_HB=+—H'H
MERREERIHEREGELER
B EINFNAY23,838,0008 0 (&
—FLEF © 23,000,000 7T) ;ii)iE 1R
BLHELE ZEWERAT5,741,0008
7T (ZE—AN4F 71,010,000 7T) »
EH A Z R ;i) E A E U
BE496,198,0008 T (CE— N5 :
13,106,000 70) » REFEL435%F
6% (CE—NF 435%F6%) 515>
BAR—EREE TUEHFA (B—H
JELEHERSERT) ZRER—B L
MBREERAEAE ZRMHUKRER
ANZABH A IREZIBRERR; K&iv)
BT E =2 EMEWFAI2,362,000
B AEEE R ERBEREKXKE
BoANRERE2RZEERAZE
CEAEERERLE BYBERZ
SRR ZTREIME R I - BE
+ZB=1+—H > AAEZERREY
RBEATFRBE - EEEARE > BN %
LR AT BH IR E » BEE
MZE W R EEIL

BREEFREASERT  REREAR

TREE-
IR1TRINELEER

RIEBE-_EF+-_A=+—H &&
BUARBAEZETRIESER
#%6,159,0008 7T (ZE—NE L
880,155/ 7T) - R AR AINEEE
SFHESNEE G R

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE
25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

26.

25. BB B MIERH MR

2020 2019
“EZEHF —ENE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Trade payables BT ESHE 5,880 5,951
Accruals and other payables FEEt &R R EMEIR 86,881 111,041
Amount due to a director B —%ESEHIE - 3,500
92,761 120,492

Trade payables FE& 1+ 8 5 7RIE

The aging analysis of the trade payables, based on the date

&S B 5 : IR A L Y EY

EmB#ZER

of receipt of goods, is as follows: el
2020 2019
—ECESF “ES-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHT
Over 360 days BiB360K 5,880 5,951

LOAN

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

FROM A SHAREHOLDER

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE - ZE - ZTF+ B =+—HILFE

27. LEASE LIABILITIES 27. HE&E
Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
AEMIE HEMIERE
2020 2019 2020 2019
—ECEE “E-NE —ECEE “E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THT THET THET
Within one year —&R 10,860 14,430 10,620 13,605
In the second to fifth years, FEFERE
inclusive (BEEEME) 652 10,368 632 10,169
11,512 24,798
Less: Future finance charges BRERESH (260) (1,024)
Present value of lease liabilities TAE&ERE 11,252 23,774 11,252 23,774
Less: Amount due for B R12ERREIHRER
settlement within 255 @R
12 months (shown REBET)

under current liabilities)

Amount due for settlement R12ER R EIBEN
after 12 months Py

At 31 December 2020, the average effective borrowing
rate was 4.7% (2019: 4.7%). Interest rates are fixed at
the contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

(10,620) (13,605)

632 10,169

RoB-SE+ZA=+—8 T
EREEREBLT% (CE—NE
4.7%) < FIER A% BHERE > B
EEEEH AT EREER

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

28.

29.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is
a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
makes contributions to the scheme at 5% - 10% and
employees are required to make 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Mandatory contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

Subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC participate in various
defined contribution retirement plans (“Plans”) organised
by local authorities for the Group’s employees in the PRC.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute, based on a
certain percentage of the basic payroll, to the Plans. The
Group has no other obligation for the payment of pension
benefits associated with these Plans beyond the annual
contributions described above.

BABHSE

BERAKEF
AEFRBES BRI MELATBSEME
FAESEMBEEEREES N —1B2
S AEEstE (afEEstEL) -
B —ERHBIULETAEEZR
EMRFCRIRETE o BRI ERstE B
TREEHEBWRAZ5%ZE10%E 51E
f TA 2 ﬁ{gﬁgljﬁgﬁy%f T)\ J iﬁ*ﬁ
RAW A _EFE %30,00078 7 - S8 FE £ 51 &I
ZoRHIE RN B o

RABEFZEMRIIZME AT R ANER
ZHERERESEZMRMGEESHZT
[ R EHEFRARE B (TBRFEHB) 5%
EWMBADARBEAFEZETAH
DM ES B HR PR LM FEE M
oM AEBTEAMBAZESEAE
MRS ENTREE-

SHARE CAPITAL 29. g7
Number of
shares Amount
KRir& 8 HEE
HKD'000
FET
Authorised: EE -
Ordinary shares of RZZ2—hF—A—H-
HK$0.1 each at —hE+ZA=+—8"
1 January 2019, “EIEF-—HA—HK
31 December 2019, —22EF+-"A=+—H
1 January 2020 and SREmEIETZEE
31 December 2020 800,000,000,000 80,000,000

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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= AL o =9
e TR EE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiZE “ZE - F+"F=+—HILFE
29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 29. &% (48)

Number of
shares Amount
ab g 4= =%
HKD'000
FHET
Issued and fully paid: BEITRHRE:
Ordinary shares of N_Z—hE—HF—HB->
HK$0.1 each at “E2-NF+ZA=+—8-
1 January 2019, —EITEF—HF—HkK
31 December 2019 —_ZE_ZF+”-RB=+—H
1 January 2020 and SREBEIA T EEBR
31 December 2020 20,352,872,747 2,035,287

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by
considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new
share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of

rEBREREXAZBRDRERER
TEREZEN LEBEBEEEA
BomEREZ P ARRAIERKN
[E]%

FEBEKBEERETNAKRAREE
FAERZ AR LR BERRB A&
ERBEBKE BTHRO RSO
B STHMER BREREERNHE
BENG RATKZEEES MR

new debts, redemption of existing debts or selling assets HEREARIREF G-
to reduce debts in order to maintain sufficiency of working
capital.

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE
30. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(9

30. {#f&
The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements (a) TEBHESELRESEFNGS
therein are presented in the consolidated statement B kEMEERERUARGS
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and EmEEHRET o
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Reserves of the Company (b) ZE=AQE#EE
Share-based
Share  Contributed payment  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
BARR R {3
RiniEE BARE  ZFUEHG RitEE ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET FHET
At 1 January 2019 RZZ2—-nE—A—H 2,123,214 94,601 391,521 (3,412,916) (803,580)
Lapsed of share options Eﬁﬁﬂ&%xﬁl - - (9,998) 9,998 -
Loss for the year AEERE - - - (693,499) (693,499)
At 31 December 2019 RIZ-h&E
+-A=+—-H 2,123,214 94,601 381,523 (4,096,417) (1,497,079)
At 1 January 2020 RZZZEF—A—H 2,123,214 94,601 381,523 (4,09,417)  (1,497,079)
Lapsed of share options iR - - (50,441) 50,441 =
Loss for the year AEEBR - - - (32,075) (32,075)
At 31 December 2020 RZEZZE
+-B=+-H 2,123,214 94,601 331,082 (4,078,051) (1,529,154)
Nature and purpose of reserves (0 FEUEEREMN

() Share premium account

Share premium represents premium arising from
the issue of shares at a price in excess of their
par value per share and is not distributable but
may be applied in paying up unissued shares of
the Company to be issued to the shareholders
of the Company as fully paid bonus shares
or in providing for the premiums payable on
repurchase of shares.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 E =

30. RESERVES (Continued)

() Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company
represents the difference between the
consolidated shareholders’ funds of the
subsidiaries at the date on which they were
acquired by the Company, and the nominal
amount of the Company’s shares issued
for the acquisition at the time of the group
reorganisation prior to the listing of the
Company'’s shares in 1995.

Under the applicable laws of Bermuda, the
contributed surplus account of a company is
available for distribution. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

- it is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become
due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium accounts.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve has been established and
dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for foreign currency translation.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to employees
and consultants of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for equity-settled share-based payments in note
4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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30. {#fE (48)
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(iii)

(iv)

BABER

KRB ZBABKIINA
ARWEHRBLADEHZ
SWBRAAZHEEGRER
ESHERERBA KRN E
—ANBEFEETRETE
EEdAREAWEMETZ
RATBIRRD EERRE 2 E

REBREBRERE —
BN B Z A B Bk AR P) i
73k o 28T M IR LT B
o AR RBAEREEAR
B B K 3K AR B B fF
K -

— ERBAENIRRIK
TRENZGIHE
&3

~ AAFEEZITRER
181 R EEAEG 4 I B
BB 81T R AR
W EAR > AR o

BE#E
MEBEREDRBEINER
BRMZEHEERILK
BRIEo

LUR1P 32T Z 7 Bl 1

Mg in = 2B EE
R AR G MBI R M E4RL
Mt m s B LU A X
ZRRIARMN 2 & 5 BURFR
BRERAEEERREENE
BREZBRIMGERTT
ERERE#RB 2 AFE-

EEEEBRAT —Z-FFEFER

147



148

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4=

JA\A AN

BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 31. QMBI AT

THE COMPANY

2020 2019
—ECEH —E—-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#x FET
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BEREE 143 1,619
Investments in subsidiaries RB AT ZIERE 27,678 27,678
27,821 29,297
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries VNG E ! 559,400 538,671
Prepayments, deposits and FE(I R 2 e A FEUR
other receivables 16,581 4,778
Bank and cash balances IRIT MRS 17,397 1,045
593,378 544,494
Current liabilities REHaE
Accruals and other payables et & A R AN =R 18,552 35,583
Loan from a shareholder —ZRBEZER 96,514 =
115,066 35,583
Net current assets MENEEFE 478,312 508,911
NET ASSETS BERE 506,133 538,208
Capital and reserves BERKi#EE
Share capital %N 2,035,287 2,035,287
Reserves ] (1,529,154) (1,497,079)
TOTAL EQUITY k] 506,133 538,208

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiZE “ZE - F+"F=+—HILFE
32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 32. URRinZ{d2Z2fRIE

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
include the full-time and part-time employees, executives,
officers, directors, business consultants, agents and legal
and financial advisers of the Company and the Company’s
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 13 June 2013
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares issuable under unexercised
share options currently permitted to be granted under the
Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options to
each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of shares options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.
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g) EERATEERNKEER
BERMZAER2HEHERHBER KO
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BM10E

HRRIEZAE R ERE Z RTER
RN ERERTERIETRNEZ
EREHEAEEREANEEARTE
BT 10% 2 BUEE « FM{E 1218 B
HEANREERETRZTEERLE
ERS2HEEETZRSRMDEBUE
AFEARBEETRABZ1%ABR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —E"ZF+"_HF=+—HILFE
32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 32. YR {2518 (48)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted FHEBREZNTRHZANBIE
within 14 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of FHAXRREMN MARARERAS
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The NEHIABATZZERE-BEREHER
exercise period of the share options granted is determinable BZITHHRTREREEE TN HE—
by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting NrEREEREERGE EERERE
period and ends on a date which is not later than five years ENHBPAERTBERFEHNZtE
from the date of the offer of the share options or the expiry [Em B UREEBLE) Blike

date of the Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by BEBREZITHEETHESETE ET
the directors, but may not be less than the highest of () the BEROEATRMDHNBREZLNE
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on HHZHWSCFELWFWE SINVARRBRMDINE
the date of the offer of the share options; (ii) the average 2 EZNHBPRMABERZ HZ FHHR
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for BT 18 5 K(ilA AT RO IR ELNH
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the HzmEE UReEA%E) -

offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to EREITERETHEHRFEEAZERESR
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. RIREAE ERRZHER] o
Details of the specific categories of options are as follows: BREZARSBEFBUT

Date of grant Exercise period Exercise price

BHAH {7fERA TfEE
2013 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 5 September 2023 HK$0.1080
2013 ZZE-=FNAKRH —Z—=FNAARHEZZZ=FNBEH 0.1080%& 7T
2014(a) 29 July 2014 29 July 2014 to 28 July 2024 HK$0.1136
2014(a) “Z-MEtAZ+ANH “Z-MEtAZ+ABEZZMELAZ+\H 0.1136387T
2014(b) 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 19 November 2024 HK$0.2010
2014(b) “E-mOF+—/FZ+H ZE-NOF+—AZ+HHEZZT_NOF+—A+NH 0.20107 7T
2015 14 July 2015 14 July 2015 to 13 July 2025 HK$0.3950
2015 “T-hFEtA+MA “Z-hFtA+HEBEEZZRFLA+=H 0.395078 7T
2016 9 December 2016 9 December 2016 to 8 December 2026 HK$0.2280
2016 “E—RE+”°ANH “E-ARETZAAREZERARE+RANAH 0.2280% 7T
2017 20 January 2017 20 January 2017 to 19 January 2027 HK$0.1872
2017 “E—+H-F°+H “E—tHF-AZ+HEZER_tF—A+AhH 0.18727 7T
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiZE “ZE - F+"F=+—HILFE
32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 32. UBgip =4 2ZzFRIE (48)

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are FRERITEZEREZFEUT !
as follows:
2020 2019
k- St 3. “ENE
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number of exercise Number of exercise
share options price share options price
IRy L ESE]
iR 768 BREHE 1B
HKS HKS
AT BT
Outstanding at the beginning R ENHKITE
of the year 1,767,000,000 0.219  1,817,000,000 0.219
Expired during the year REREIE (173,000,000) 0.190 (50,000,000) 0.201
Outstanding at the end RERERITH
of the year 1,594,000,000 0.222  1,767,000,000 0.219
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for RERTEZEBRERITEHRZM
share options exercised during the year was HK$nil (2019: BEHRERAZSE T (CTE—HLEF:
HK$nil). The options outstanding at the end of the year THEIT) cRERBERTEZEREZ
have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.73 MEFERGRENFRARITIFE (T
years (2019: 4.74 years) and the exercise prices range from —NEF 4745 > MITEENF0.108
HK$0.108 to HK$0.395 (2019: HK$0.108 to HK$0.395). BITE0.3958 7T (ZE—H4EF :0.108

BILE0.39587T) ©
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 33. xATTEMBATIZHE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the financial position of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

TR EEARHLFEXERE
BREYERTERY R AETES
DZAERBWBAT - EFRA R
HitWB AR ZH B EEATBINT
Eo

S T ESEINSES 0] ISP
BT :

Percentage
of the
ownership
Place of Issued/paid-up interest/
incorporation/ registered voting
Name registration capital power  Principal activities
FriG A
AL, BET/ @/ R
8 Bk HREEMEE aatt  FEEH
American Compass Inc. us Ordinary 100%*  Investment holding
US$17,000,000
e ERER REER
17,000,000% ¢
Billion Energy Holdings Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 100%  Investment holding
KEEEBRAT & BT R EER
EZBEENERERAR The PRC Registered capital of 60.21%  Development of advanced
(Lianyungang Hybrid Kinetic New US$27,000,000 battery materials
Energy Co., Limited)
ERABLEMERERAT HE SREA HERET MR
27,000,000 7T
LEEBRERERRAR The PRC Registered capital of 100%  Provision of finance lease services
RMB30,000,000
F SHRER REMBERERE
AE#30,000,0007%

* Shares held directly by the Company

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiZE “ZE - F+"F=+—HILFE
33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 33. RGBT EMELATIZEE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY €))

(Continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that TRINTHREHAEEMEBEARZ
have non-controlling interests (“NCI") material to the EEREG B AT ER -HHE
Group. The summarised financial information represents B ETET BB HAI 2 £5B

amounts before inter-company eliminations.

Lianyungang Hybrid Kinetic
New Energy Co., Limited
EEBEEMERARAR

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-NF
Principal place of business/ FEEEMB SEMARIIEAR The PRC
country of incorporation FRE
% of ownership interests/ QE?’EHXTL“T—JEZ%EE 39.79% 39.79%
voting rights held by NC| s RFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
At 31 December: w+=A=+—8:
Non-current assets ERENEE 512 561
Current assets MBEE 13,649 87,430
Current liabilities piEZII=NE] (10,048) (13,533)
Net assets BEFE 4,113 74,458
Accumulated NCI RETIFER R 1,637 29,627
Year ended 31 December: BE+-HA=1+—HL=EE:
Loss for the year REERIE (71,053) (891)
Total comprehensive income TEWEAERE (709) (1,410)
Loss for the year allocated to NCI DEEEERER 2
KEERE (28,272) (355)
Net cash used in operating activities 48 &EENPT IR & FRE (13) (500)
Net cash generated from/(used in)  RESEENFTZ, (FTFR) 6 )
investing activities REFE8
Net decrease in cash and REKRIBEEEWRLFEE
cash equivalents (7) (502)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E T -_FHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. HEMB AT
During 2020, the Group disposed some subsidiaries at cash RIBZZ2HE  AEEMUREAES
consideration of HK$nil. BITHELPHBELRE]
Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows: RHEHRZ FEENT :
HK$000
FAET
Prepayments, deposits and other FERR O 12 R AR USGR 7,250
receivables
Bank and cash balances R1T MIRTLEER 534
Accruals and other payables et & A R AN &R (7,261)
Net assets disposed of FRTHERFEE 523
Release of translation reserve fEPRIn B 426
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AT ZEE (I:E13) (949)
(note 13)
Total consideration — satisfied by cash 42 UE— RS E R =
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEMEEZIRESMEIFE !
Cash consideration received BUIRENE =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of ~FTHERETRIREEHEY) (534)
(534)

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ —ZE-"ZF+"_F=+—HIFE

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35. &8 HKERMEE

36.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing FAMEEZSMEEZE8EES
activities

The following table shows the Company changes in liabilities

TRITAADERRME DS E

arising from financing activities during the year: ErEBBEEE
Loan from a Lease
shareholder liabilities Total
—GRRZEH HEAR st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FHET FET FEx
At 1 January 2019 RZZ—NFE—F—H - 40,682 40,682
Changes in cash flows RERsEH = (16,640) (16,640)
Non-cash changes FFIREEH
— addition —1EH0 -~ 5,582 5,582
— interest charged —FEXH = 1,726 1,726
— cancellation —5HiH = (7,576) (7,576)
At 31 December 2019 and RIZ—hF - 23,774 23,774
1 January 2020 +-A=+—HkK
2EF—-F—H
Changes in cash flows ReEnsg 98,824 (14,675) 84,149
Non-cash changes FFIREEH
- addition — - 1,300 1,300
— interest charged —FMEZH - 853 853
At 31 December 2020 RIZ_ZH 98,824 11,252 110,076
+-A=+—H
APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED 36. it /#iFa SRR

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRREN_E-_—FAA
=t—HESETHERRRETIE

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 May
2021.
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Financial Ssummary

RATS IR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the published audited financial statements and reclassified as

TXHEINAEERO LAY REEZXE
UREBERGRHRE HHEHBEERZE
BERZMHBRT LEEHLE WEM) :

appropriate, is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December

#E+_A=1+-HILEE

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
E-RE B—+tF Z-N\FE Z-hE IZEBEZEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAERT FTER FAET FER
RESULTS £
Revenue WA 15,529 35,434 61,250 16,342 21,825
Loss before tax BRIAIES 1B (358,740) (325,305) (289,811) (643,846) (100,791)
Income tax expense FrfeiimX (805) (360) (18) = =
Loss for the year TEERE (359,545) (325,665) (289,829) (643,846) (100,791)
Attributable to MTFALEES:
Owners of the Company AREEBAN (355,303) (322,290) (288,571) (644,022) (72,904)
Non-controlling interests JEEE R (4,242) (3,375) (1,258) 176 (27,887)
(359,545) (325,665) (289,829) (643,846) (100,791)
As at 31 December
»+=ZB=+—H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
E-RE Z—tF Z-N\FE Z-hE IZEBEZEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAET FTER FAET FER
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Total assets EEEE 1,909,963 1,660,675 1,300,218 711,742 710,635
Total liabilities BERE (48,545) (61,827) (61,170) (144.,266) (202,837)
Net assets EERE 1,861,418 1,598,848 1,239,048 567,476 507,798
Equity attributable to: BT AT (bR
Owners of the Company ARBEEA 1,827,339 1,561,628 1,209,437 538,208 506,133
Non-controlling interests ElS 2P 34,079 37,220 29,611 29,268 1,665
1,861,418 1,598,848 1,239,048 567,476 507,798

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2020
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